
Annual report and 
financial statements
2018/2019





Moat Financial Statements 2018/2019  2

3    Highlights of our year

5    Chair’s statement

7     Strategic report

   7    What we do

   9    Our strategic journey  
         2016/2020

   10   The external environment

   12   Our performance

   15   Value for money

   19   Our finances

   24   Risks

   25   Governance

27   Report of the Audit Committee

Our ambition is to 
end housing need

31     Directors’ report

39    Independent Auditor’s report  
        to the members of Moat      
        Homes Limited

43   Consolidated statement of            
        comprehensive income

44   Association statement of     
        comprehensive income

45    Consolidated statement of            
        financial position

46   Association statement of       
       financial position

47   Consolidated and Association             
        statement of changes in equity

48    Consolidated statement of             
        cash flows

49    Notes to the financial               
        statements

Contents



Highlights of our year

£130m
turnover

Finance

£36.3m
surplus

40%
operating margin

£1.4bn
housing properties cost

£515m
borrowings

881
new home starts

Development

500
new home handovers

1,620
homes in pipeline

£165m
spend on new builds 

15 days
void turnaround

Property management

99%
repairs satisfaction

2.46%
rent arrears (excluding Universal Credit)

Housing management

82%
Overall satisfaction

Highlights of our year
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St Marks Square
Our apartments at St Mark’s Square are located in the heart of Bromley as part 
of a new residential and leisure quarter. These apartments feature ceiling to floor 
windows with sweeping views of London and Bromley. 85% of these desirable new 
homes have already been sold since handover at the end of last year.

Development highlights

Deptford Foundry 
This was our first time working in 
partnership with the property developer 
Anthology. These beautiful apartments 
have great commuter links with 
three local stations proving a regular 
service into London in Bridge in just six 
minutes, Cannon Street in 14 minutes 
and Waterloo in 18 minutes. 11 of the 12 
apartments were reserved off plan.

Ebbsfleet Garden City – Ebbsfleet Green and Springhead Park
Our two developments at Ebbsfleet Garden City, Ebbsfleet Green and Springhead 
Park, have been a massive success for us. We have worked with Countryside to 
provide a total of 163 homes and have had more than 50 people move into our 
shared ownership and rented homes within this development. We are looking 
forward to the additional homes coming to Springhead Park next year.

Horsted Park
Horsted Park is situated in the historic town 
of Chatham just a short distance from 
Chatham and Rochester high streets.  
We have 40 shared ownership houses  
and apartments that have been delivered  
in partnership with Countryside.

Livingstone Gardens
Livingstone Gardens is located in the 
beautiful market town of Chipping Ongar 
in Essex. This is a collection of 18 two and 
three bedroom houses for shared 
ownership. 
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In a year when the political focus has 
been on how and when the UK might exit 
the European Union, the housing crisis 
continues to deepen. How we house our 
people says a great deal about who we 
are as a country and the work of housing 
associations across the country is pivotal 
to ensuring that as many people as 
possible have access to a safe, secure 
and affordable home.

Building good quality new homes is at 
the core of our mission, which is to end 
housing need. Working in partnership 
with our key local authority partners, 
developers and contractors and 
supported by Homes England and the 
GLA, we remain determined to ensure 
that we help the maximum number of 
people to have a place to call home from 
which they can build their lives.

We have continued to build homes of all 
tenures despite a softening market and 
a background of uncertainty by using 
our underlying financial strength and 
organisational resilience. To maintain 
momentum, we were able to leverage the 
organisation’s agility and flex our strategy 
to take account of local conditions as 
markets continued to change throughout 
the year. As a result, we have a pipeline 
of over 1,500 affordable homes across 
our key areas of Kent, Essex, Sussex and 
South London. 

Moat has extensive experience in low 
cost home ownership and remains 
committed to providing homes for shared 
ownership, partnering our residents on 
their home ownership journey. Over the 
year, we have helped 275 people part 
purchase their first home, whilst a further 

162 have bought additional equity in 
their home. We work hard to ensure that, 
when shared owners wish to move on 
from their home, as many as possible of 
those homes are offered to new shared 
owners rather than being lost to the open 
market, achieving this for 96% of resales.

The safety of our homes remains a 
key consideration and we continue to 
embed evolving best practice in the 
management of our homes in the light of 
revised guidance and obtaining external 
assurance that we continue to meet high 
standards. 

One of the challenges that housing 
associations face is striking the correct 
balance between investment in new 
homes and in existing stock. Clearly, 
new supply is essential but equally it 

Chair’s statement

Chair’s statement

We have continued to build homes 
of all tenures despite a softening 
market and a background 
of uncertainty by using our 
underlying financial strength and 
organisational resilience. 
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is important to ensure that our existing 
homes remain fit for purpose. Last year, 
we continued to progress our ambitious 
regeneration of Pollards Hill in Merton 
where we are working with residents and 
investing over £23m in the physical and 
social regeneration of the area. 

During the year, we opened our fifth 
community hub, which is co-located 
with our office in Maldon, one of our key 
communities. These hubs act as a meeting 
place for local residents and facilitate the 
delivery of a wide range of community 
services in the areas where we manage 
significant numbers of homes. 

We have also made considerable 
progress this year in terms of our digital 
offer for customers. Our new customer 
portal, MyMoat, was co-designed with 
residents to ensure an intuitive and 
seamless online experience and we now 
have a significant number of customers 
using the portal on a regular basis. Our 
group of customer advocates continue 
to work with us on a number of projects 
as we continue to refine our services to 
meet our customers needs and reflect our 
customer offer.

Steve White
Chair

Chair’s statement

In November, Moat was downgraded by 
the Regulator from G1 to G2 following 
the sale of 26 homes to a for-profit 
registered provider. This was clearly a 
matter of concern for both the Board and 
the organisation as a whole. We worked 
hard to put things right, maintaining a 
positive dialogue with the Regulator 
throughout. As a learning organisation, 
we distilled positives from the downgrade 
and demonstrated, once again, agility 
in applying the lessons learnt. We 
demonstrated through a comprehensive 
In Depth Assessment that we are a 
well governed and financially strong 
organisation and Moat returned to G1 V1 
status in May.

Finally I would like to thank my Board 
colleagues, the Executive Team and all 
of the staff at Moat for their undoubted 
commitment in support of Moat and 
our mission during a challenging, but 
ultimately positive year.
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Strategic report
What we do

What we do

We are a leading housing association in 
the South East, owning and managing 
over 20,000 homes, and with a 
development programme planned at 650 
new homes every year. Moat is a not-for-
profit organisation funded by a mixture 
of private finance and government grant 
that develops, owns and manages social 
housing. Any surplus made is reinvested 
to maintain existing homes and build new 
ones.

For over fifty years we have sought to 
help people in housing need to have 
somewhere they can call home by 
providing a range of different housing 
options to suit the diverse needs of our 
customers. 

We are dedicated to being a supportive 
and reliable landlord, providing fantastic 
services to our customers, investing in the 
communities we work in and continuing 
to build new homes to help combat the 
housing crisis.

Moat Homes Limited (MHL) 
is the parent company of 
the group which is branded 
as ‘Moat’.

We are proud to be:

• An experienced and compassionate 
landlord in our communities

• Dedicated to building strong 
relationships with the local authorities  
in the areas we work

• One of the Homes England delivery 
partners

• Financially strong, allowing us to 
deliver excellent services to our 
customers and build new homes

• An expert in providing shared 
ownership

• An employer of 350+ members of 
expert and passionate staff.

Moat’s company structure
Moat Homes Limited

Registered under Cooperative  
Communities Societies Act 2014 No.17434R

Registered Provider L0386
Charitable status

Moat Housing Group Limited
Registered under Cooperative 

Communities Societies Act 2014 
No.27943R

Registered Provider L4047
Non-charitable status

Moat Foundation
Registered under Companies 

Act 2006. Limited by  
Guarantee No.07293421

Registered with the Charities 
Commission No. 1136995

Moat Homes Finance plc
Registered under Companies  

Act 2006 No 07743490

Its active subsidiaries are Moat Housing 
Group Limited (MHG), which focuses 
on developing homes for market sale; 
Moat Foundation (MF), our charitable 
arm focusing on communities; and Moat 
Housing Finance Plc (MHF), our group 
treasury vehicle which has issued a 
£150m public bond.

There are also three dormant 
group companies, Mariner Facilities 
Management Limited, Moat Construction 
Services Limited and Moat Development 
Limited.



Our homes
New homes in 

2018/2019
Homes managed 

and/or owned

General needs rented - 8,458

General needs affordable rent 168 1,729

Housing for older people/supported 32 1,801

Low cost home ownership 300 5,195

Social leasehold - 1,082

Other social - 1,333

Non social housing - 1,029

Total homes 500 20,627

Current homes
NB only local authorities 
with 50+ homes shown

Strategic report
What we do

Affordable rent/social rent

Shared ownership
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Uttlesford

Chelmsford

Harlow

Epping Forest

Southend-on-Sea
Thurrock

Dover

Canterbury

ShepwayAshford

Swale

Maidstone

Tonbridge 
and Malling

Tunbridge Wells

Sevenoaks

Dartford
Gravesham

Medway

Wealden

Brighton and Hove

Mid Sussex

Horsham

Bromley
Croydon

Sutton

Lewisham Castle 
Point

Greenwich

717242

Basildon

234205

Bexley
386174

255249

279176

139177

5144

13075

Crawley

341185

320180

414356

8289

8180

376303

489452

281412

164149

5162 

Merton

912613

70190 

Maldon

1960112

747489

339310

Rochford 3928

528560

12890

66117

266245

731375

Thanet
846

250107

287429

279249

17681

148199
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Our strategic journey
2016 to 2020

Focused on growth – ensuring the 
continuation of a strong development 
programme

An innovative, commercial business – 
looking at the development of new products 
and tenures as a means to further growth

Easy to do business with – focusing on 
simplifying our offer and maximising the use 
of digital technology service delivery, and

A consistent customer experience – 
focusing on setting out a clear and 
consistent customer offer to deliver the right 
outcomes and greater efficiency.

In the intervening years, we have concentrated 
on the underlying actions required to achieve 
our aims, monitoring our performance as we 

go. We discuss our achievements during the 
year in the performance section of this report.

Our strategic roadmap below is designed 
to ensure that we continue to operate more 
efficiently and effectively and to cope with 
future challenges. Some of our aims have been 
impacted by market conditions. For example, 
in terms of our ability to build new homes, we 
are currently forecasting that the development 
pipeline we will be able to sustain will be for 
650 homes per annum rather than the 750 
originally projected. However, there have been 
no fundamental changes to the strategic 
roadmap and aspirations we are following. In 
the coming year we will be developing a new 
strategic plan, looking at how we embrace the 
challenges of the next five years.

In 2016, we developed our 
strategic roadmap and 
plan for the following 
five years. Our focus was 
on four areas where we 
could make a contribution 
to our ambition of 
eliminating housing need: 

Strategic report
Our strategic journey 2016 to 2020

E L I M I N AT E  H O U S I N G  N E E D

Easy to do
business with

Simple effectiveness will underpin
how we manage the business 
and provide services• By 2020 we will be focused on 30 local 

authority areas

• We will develop around 3,000 properties  
over the next five years aiming for an  
annual pipeline of 750 properties  
by 2020

• We will increase our appetite  
for commercial risk to  
make the best use of the  
opportunities that we have  
to meet our growth target.

Focused on 
growth

Continuing to build new homes is 
the focus of everything we do

• Increasing product choice through developing  
a new, sustainable rented product

• Considering how partner investment can support  
our growth ambition through new financing  
options for products and growth

• Investing in technology to underpin an effective  
and modern business supporting our outcomes. 

An innovative, 
commercial

business

Focused innovation 
will be a part of 
everything we 
do embedded 
within the business • The offer to our customers will 

be consistent and clear and 
we will deliver it without failure

A consistent 
customer

experience

We will be brilliant 
at doing the 
basics

• We will focus on the outcomes that our 
customers need through good data and good 
technology to support great communication

• We will be a learning organisation focused on 
getting things through insight, innovation and 
improvement.

• Digital technology will increasingly become our 
chosen way of working to support our drive 
towards greater efficiency

• Services will be delivered by   
  those best able to provide the   
    right services at the right price

• We will use partnerships 
and business relationships 
to maximise impact.
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The external environment

Strategic report
The external environment

For those operating in areas of low demand, 
the challenge is to invest to change 
communities and create demand. In areas 
of high demand, providers are seeking to 
use surpluses from market related tenures to 
cross-subsidise the development of affordable 
homes. As Moat operates in the South East, 
most of its homes are in areas of high demand 
where affordability is the key barrier.

Development and sales pressures
Over the last 12 months, the lack of clarity 
as to when and how the UK will leave the EU 
has had a significant effect on the operating 
environment. The market for all ownership 
tenures has been significantly impacted as 
buyers have delayed investment decisions 
given economic uncertainty, resulting in lower 
transaction volumes and a slowdown in house 
price inflation. Clearly, this has led to a more 
subdued performance for both housebuilders 
and housing associations relying upon open 
market sale. In terms of shared ownership, 
sales have also been affected, both by the 
market slowdown and also by increased 
volume of shared ownership homes coming 
available following the government support for 
the tenure in the early part of the 2016/2021 
programme.

Despite the pressures in the housing market 
most housing associations have been 
continuing to actively build their new homes 
development pipelines over the past year. 
To achieve true additionality, and increase 
control, there has also been a clear shift 
towards ‘land-led’ deals. This of course puts 
housing associations in direct competition with 
private developers. This year has also seen 
new entrants into the Section 106 market 
with for-profit registered providers announcing 
their intention to bid aggressively to build their 
own pipeline of schemes. At Moat we have 
embraced this approach and have shifted our 
development strategy to focus on land-led 
opportunities, identifying a clear oppotunity of 
mixed tenure projects of under fifty homes, in 
our core locations. 

The operating 
environment for 
housing providers 
continues to provide 
both opportunities and 
challenges. 

Shared ownership still forms a large proportion 
of development programmes but this year 
has seen the increased availability of grant 
for rented housing, even for social rent. As a 
response to sales exposure in an uncertain 
market we have looked to focus our attention 
on increasing the proportion of rented homes 
in our pipeline. Over 60% of the new homes 
approved in the year were for rent. With rent 
being a more counter cyclical tenure than 
shared ownership this approach is also aimed 
at insulating us from any significant market 
downturn. 

In relation to market exposure, we are 
experiencing some down-valuations of stock 
but this is far from widespread, being largely 
limited to higher value urban schemes. The key 
characteristic of the market in our experience is 
uncertainty amongst potential buyers, leading 
them to take longer to commit or deciding to 
wait until the political uncertainty around the 
exit from the EU becomes clearer. 

Overall demand for shared ownership remains 
high however across London and the South 
East the ratio between average house prices 
and incomes still means that outright home 
ownership is significantly out of reach for 
many households. With interest rates still at 
an historic low, shared ownership continues to 
provide an attractive, accessible and secure 
route for many first time buyers.  

With increased government investment in 
shared ownership the year has seen an 
increase in new entrants into the shared 
ownership mortgage lending market, giving 
more choice and very competitive rates for 
buyers. 

The prospect of leaving the EU has also started 
to impact more noticeably on the availability 
of labour both for repairs and the construction 
of new homes. The cost of materials has also 
increased, adding to the pressure on margins 
for contractors.
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Strategic report
The external environment

The quality of new homes has come under the 
spotlight in the past year, with both housing 
associations and developers being challenged 
to improve their performance. It is important 
that the industry works together to improve 
quality and eradicate unnecessary defects 
and to ensure that residents have the support 
needed to ensure that problems are remedied 
effectively.

Health and safety
The tragic events of Grenfell continue to 
shape the environment with a key focus on 
health and safety. The Hackitt review has 
highlighted the complexities of putting together 
a 'golden thread' for each block which 
embraces the construction, management and 
any subsequent refurbishment of buildings. 
All those involved in providing homes are 
concentrating on how best to keep residents 
safe, given that guidance in terms of both 
materials to be used and ongoing safety 
management is continuing to evolve. 

Social Housing Green Paper
The Social Housing Green Paper (SHGP), 
published on 14 August 2018, brought a 
renewed focus on how residents’ voices are 
heard and housing providers called to account. 
The paper sets out five core themes:

Tackling stigma and celebrating 
thriving communities

Expanding supply and supporting 
home ownership

Effective resolution of complaints

Empowering residents and 
strengthening the regulator

Ensuring homes are safe and decent.

The ongoing consultation will run until  
6 November 2019 but potential outcomes 
include a body to represent social tenants, 
more focused consumer regulation and 
greater transparency and accountability. The 
indication being that there is likely to be more 
detailed consumer regulation. In response 
to themes emerging from both Grenfell and 
the development of the SHGP, the National 
Housing Federation (NHF) began exploring 
ways that the sector can respond. The 
outcome of that work is a draft plan, Together 
with Tenants, which was launched in February, 
and is now being consulted upon across the 
sector. 

Rent settlement 
Whilst providers have been given certainty 
around the rent settlement for 2020/2025 
at CPI plus 1% per annum, this was the 
third consecutive year of rent cuts and the 
consequent reduction in housing associations 
most stable source of income. This has an 
impact both in absolute terms and also in 
terms of placing greater reliance on market 
related activities.

Universal Credit
The rollout of Universal Credit for new 
claimants was completed in December 2018, 
with the full managed migration now being due 
for completion in 2023.

The government has acknowledged some 
flaws in the system and over the past year 
further changes have been made:

The retrospective cap limiting payment for 
two children only has been lifted

More payments will be made directly to 
women as the main carer in households

Universal Credit payments will be made 
more individual. This could involve making 
more regular payments to claimants who 
need it or paying rent money directly to 
landlords

There is a pilot migrating 10,000 claimants 
in one area to Universal Credit to learn as 
much as possible about how to help people 
to move on to Universal Credit before 
scaling up the managed migration. 

Finance and investment
Despite uncertainty around the timing and 
nature of the UK’s departure from the EU, 
credit has remained available at low rates for 
both corporate and individual borrowers.

There have been some new entrants to 
the banking market for affordable housing 
but a small number of non-UK investors 
looking to enter the sector have delayed 
their participation, specifically citing Brexit 
uncertainty as a reason but expressing a 
willingness to proceed once the outcome is 
clearer.

Overall, strong and positive demand across 
both the institutional and bank lending markets 
to the sector is meeting a steady flow of supply 
and also underpinning innovation and new 
developments as registered providers seek 
funding structures which are tailored to the 
specific needs of their businesses.



Strategic report
Our performance

Our performance

500 new homes (2018: 457) were handed over 
in the year, split between 200 affordable rent 
and 300 for shared ownership. We had 950 
homes in construction at the end of the year 
and a further 670 homes either with internal 
approval or in contract but awaiting start on 
site, giving a pipeline of 1,620 homes. 

700 of these homes were approved during the 
year and these were split 60% rent and 40% 
shared ownership, reflecting our strategy of 
re-balancing our pipeline to deliver more rented 
homes. 

Handover and starts (when construction starts 
on site) performance in year was strong. 
The 500 handovers were slightly below the 
target of 525, following our refusal to accept 
some homes for handover prior to 31 March 
2019 due to snagging issues. The remaining 
homes were delivered in early 2019/2020. 
We significantly out performed starts with 881 
against a target of 600.

Our targets for 2019/2020 are 400 new home 
starts and 592 handovers mainly in Homes 
England and GLA programmes. Grant funding 
comes largely from grant recycled from shared 
ownership staircasings.

Outright sale programme
We are continuing with our outright sale 
programme through MHG, the surpluses 
from which will be used to cross-subsidise 
building affordable homes. 37 homes are in 
construction, of which 29 are due to handover 
in 2019/2020. We have purchased land on 
which to build a further 61 homes for outright 
sale and are currently awaiting planning.

Sales of new homes
This year proved a difficult one for sales as the 
market became nervous principally around 
concerns of the impact of a no-deal exit from 
the EU. We delivered 275 first tranche sales 

Our ambition is to continue 
to build new homes to 
contribute to the alleviation 
of the shortage of 
affordable homes.
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New homes Actual  
2018/2019

Target
2018/2019

Actual  
2017/2018

New homes starts 881 600 758

New build handovers 500 525 457

Unsold homes: more than six months old 63 7 10

Shared ownership sales profitability 14.7% 13.6% 20.0%

Development programme New
homes in  

2018/2019

Homes in 
construction  
at 31 March 

2019

Remaining 
homes in 

pipeline at 31 
March 2019

Affordable rent 200 271 339

Low cost home ownership 300 642 270

Non social housing - 37 61

Total homes 500 950 670



in the year, 36 more than the 239 achieved 
in 2018, but did not reach our targeted 425 
sales. The overall sales margin of 14.7% 
achieved was higher than the 13.6% targeted, 
giving us a surplus of £4.2m (2018: £5.1m) 
against a target of £5.3m. 

At 31 March 2019 there were 149 homes 
(2018: 124) unsold, of which 63 had been 
unsold for over six months (2018: 10). Our 
market experience was mixed with many of 
our schemes continuing to sell well although 
buyers have been taking longer to make 
decisions, but a slowdown in a handful of 
higher value schemes where we started to see 
some low single figure down-valuations. Of the 
63 unsold for over six months, 30 were from a 
large development where sales have proved to 
be slow.

Shared owners increasing the 
percentage of the property they own
This does not seem to have been impacted by 
market conditions as 162 (2018: 165) existing 
shared owners bought more equity in their 
homes (staircasing) and 138 (2018: 146) equity 
loan holders redeemed their loans during the 
year. This generated income of £29m (2018: 
£27.8m), with a £14.3m (2018: £12.5m) 
surplus. There were also 231 resales, of which 
96% were retained as shared ownership.

Stock rationalisation
Our strategic stock rationalisation program is 
now substantively complete following the sale 
of 26 homes in Wandsworth. This leaves just 
a handful of properties in outlying areas to be 
disposed of. 

Strategic report
Our performance 

Maintaining our homes
Our spending on maintaining and upgrading 
our homes increased during the year to 
£21.6m (2018: £19.4m).

We delivered 306 new kitchens, 125 new 
bathrooms/wet-rooms in partnership with 
Mears as well as 438 new boilers in our major 
works programme. 

Using the Energiesprong model, a revolutionary 
whole house refurbishment approach, we are 
currently piloting five homes, spending £587k 
(2018: £79k) in the year. The aim is to achieve 
homes which meet the best energy standards. 

We have seen an increase in costs relating 
to health and safety issues during the year 
to meet changes in the legislation and best 
practice guidance. Areas of higher expenditure 
are asbestos surveys and asbestos related 
repairs at £2.0m (2018: £1.4m), and fire risk 
assessments and related works at £0.9m 
(2018: £0.2m). 

Our day to day repairs service, in partnership 
with Mears, delivered almost 27,000 repairs 
to our homes in year, and continued to deliver 
a great service as shown by our performance 
against our right first time and satisfaction 
targets.

Gas compliance, which is an incredibly 
important obligation, ended the year with the 
required 100% properties with up-to-date 
safety certificates.

Reducing void turnaround times remains a key 
focus and following a restructure last year we 
continue to perform well in this area, ending 
the year well within target.

Maintaining our homes Actual 
2018/2019

Target
2018/2019

Actual
2017/2018

Routine repairs: right first time 95% 95% 96%

Resident satisfaction with routine repairs service 99% 90% 99%

Current landlords’ gas safety certificates 100% 100% 100%

Void turnaround time in days: general needs, 
housing for older people and supported

15.4 17 14
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Energy efficiency
We have an energy efficiency officer who 
looks at opportunities to improve the energy 
efficiency of our homes. This ranges from the 
Energiesprong project to installing ground 
source heat pumps and loft insulation.



Strategic report
Our performance

Our customers
We continue to work on our customer offer, 
improving the quality of services as well as 
delivering efficiencies. We monitor overall 
satisfaction with services using monthly phone 
surveys carried out by an external specialist 
research agency. The satisfaction level for 
our rented customers is 82%, above both the 
previous year score and our target of 80%.

Digital first approach
Our revamped customer portal, MyMoat, 
went live in May 2018 and we now have over 
5,600 users. The list of functions available is 
constantly growing: view rent account and 
download statements; make rent payments; 
report repairs, defects and dumped rubbish; 
manage repair appointments; view estate 
inspection and cleaning/gardening dates; 
new customer application form; reporting 
complaints; viewing when planned works and 
gas servicing is due; and lots more.

While we now direct customers to MyMoat 
as a first point of contact, customers still like 
to call, webchat and email us. In 2018-19, 
we answered 146,072 calls with an average 
handling time of 8 minutes 56 seconds; 
dealt with 33,174 emails; and handled 3,891 
webchats.

The rollout of our mobile working solution for 
the neighbourhood team was completed in 
June 2019. The solution allows access via 
tablets to our central systems for key tasks, 
eg. managing anti-social behaviour cases, fire 
risk assessment actions, estate inspections, 
and accesses other useful information about 
customers and homes. By saving time, 
and providing better security of sensitive 
information, we will be able to respond 
to customers faster with all the important 
information at our fingertips.

Arrears
In our continuing mission to reduce arrears 
while keeping people in their homes, the 
arrears target (excluding Universal Credit 
customers) for 2018/2019 was set at 3% of 
the rent due. Through collaborative working 
with our customers, the Department of Work 
and Pensions and our local authority partners, 
we achieved 2.46%. If we include customers 
on Universal Credit the figure is 3.16%. The 
arrears for shared ownership customers was 
1.58%, slightly above target. 

Focus has been on working with customers 
to set up repayment agreements, with 
3,547 customers currently keeping to their 
agreements and over half the current debt 
being repaid on a regular basis. We also 
averaged less than ten evictions a quarter.

Universal Credit has now been rolled out to 
all local authorities, although only for new 
claimants or for those customers whose 
circumstances change. As of 31 March 
2019 we were aware of 1,641 customers on 
Universal Credit (2018: 295) that had been 
moved on to the Universal Credit regime. 
Our arrears performance for these customers 
shows arrears of 8%. While this level of 
arrears is lower than anticipated, it has been 
achieved by allocating additional staff resource 
specifically to assist these customers. With 
an expected increase in numbers despite the 
rollout to all customers being delayed, there is 
still uncertainty on what the longer term impact 
on arrears will be. Our target for bad debts per 
home anticipated a higher level of Universal 
Credit implementation.

Neighbourhoods
Through focusing on more effective anti-
social behaviour (ASB) management and clear 
messaging about ASB and our role as landlord 
we have seen a 25% reduction in the number 
of cases reported from the previous year.

Our Neighbourhood Response Team continues 
to provide a reactive service that bridges the 
gap on small jobs not covered by our formal 
service contracts. Over the last 12 months, the 
team completed 5,880 jobs.

We introduced a new grounds maintenance 
provider, Idverde.  Tight contract management 
means that resident satisfaction is now the 
highest it’s been in over eight years and the 
procurement of the contract has generated 
savings of £300,000 per annum.

Investment in our communities

Regeneration
This year saw the majority of our regeneration 
works at Pollards Hill being carried out. Works 

to individual properties include roofs, external 
wall insulation, new kitchens and bathrooms. 
Equally important are the infrastructure works 
across the estate, improving communal 
spaces, parking and refuse collection. We 
have spent £8.9m (2018: £8.5m) on the 
regeneration during the year, of which £8.3m 
(2018: £6.8m) has been accounted for as 
additional housing properties costs. 2019/2020 
will see the last phase of the works being 
carried out, completing the works with our aim 
to be off site by December 2019. Over a three 
year period we will have spent over £23m on 
the regeneration.

The regeneration of Pollards Hill has a big 
focus on helping the community improve their 
lives and their neighbourhood. An example is 
a business start-up studio, funded by Moat 
and United Living, which provides affordable 
workspace, mentoring and advice to allow the 
young entrepreneurs to network and provide 
support for each other.

Moat Foundation
Our Moat Foundation brand consists of 
charitable donations made by our separate 
charity, MF, and activities focused around our 
five community hubs within MHL. 

Community activities are aimed at young and 
older people groups in particular, but not 
exclusively. Some of the activities featured 
are community gardens, boxing, dance and 
movement classes, employability training, 
health and wellbeing, breakfast clubs and 
coffee mornings.

We received £20k from suppliers as part of the 
corporate social value element of the tender 
process. This was spent on setting up the new 
Maldon hub and on a Strengthening Minds 
initiative in Kent.

Our customers Actual 
2018/2019

Target
2018/2019

Actual
2017/2018

Overall satisfaction with services provided (rented) 82% 80% 81%

Current rent gross arrears (excluding Universal 
Credit): general needs, housing for older people and 
supported

2.46% 3.00% 3.71%

Current rent gross arrears for Universal Customers: 
general needs, housing for older people and 
supported

8.09% 9.00% not available

Current rent gross arrears: shared ownership 1.58% 1.50% 1.84%

Bad debts per home £12 £86 £13

Homes per FTE 53 53 53

Moat Financial Statements 2018/2019  14
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Value for money

Strategic report
Value for money

Our VfM strategy is designed to ensure that 
we comply with the VfM Standard and Code 
of Practice issued by the Regulator of Social 
Housing (RSH) in April 2018. The strategy 
was updated and approved by the Board in 
February 2019. It brings together a number of 
supporting strategies to ensure a coherent and 
co-ordinated approach with VfM a key strand 
across the full range of our business activities, 
including:

Strategic planning

Monthly key performance indicators

Budget and long-term plan

Investment appraisals for all 
development activities

Asset management

Procurement 

Change management process for on-going 
improvements, eg. system development, 
structure changes

Social value.

We achieve value for 
money (VfM) by not only 
managing our resources 
economically, efficiently 
and effectively to provide 
quality services and 
homes but also planning 
for and delivering 
on-going improvements.

VfM metrics Comments on comparison to 2017/2018
Actual

2018/2019
Target

2018/2019
Actual

2017/2018

Reinvestment % A higher spend on our development pipeline during 
the year 9% 7% 7%

New supply delivered 
(social housing units) %

We delivered 500 new affordable homes, 43 more 
than in the previous year 2.8% 2.8% 2.6%

Gearing % Borrowing less cash has increased by £68m to meet 
the needs of the increased develpment pipleline 34.6% <35% 32%

EBITDA MRI interest cover % Increased interest costs from additional borrowings 208% 200% 232%

Headline social housing cost per unit £ Higher maintenance costs including asbestos and fire 
risk works partially offset by higher number of homes £3,151 £3,269 £2,998

Operating margin 

  Operating margin (social housing lettings    
  only) % Mainly higher maintenance costs 40% 40% 43%

  Operating margin (overall) % In addition first tranche sales margin has fallen from 
20% to 15% 29% 27% 34%

Return on capital employed % Lower level of stock disposals in 2018/2019 (surplus 
reduced by £17.3m) 3.60% 3.00% 5.13%

VfM metrics
We have monitored our performance against 
the seven VfM metrics issued by the RSH. All 
of the key performance indicators performed 
better than their targets. The targets were 
based on the budget which anticipated 
the planned higher levels of development 
expenditure, higher property maintenance 
costs, lower first tranche sales margins, 
and fewer stock disposals as compared to 
2017/2018. The table below also shows our 
performance compared to 2017/2018 with 
comments on the reasons behind the changes.  

Benchmarking against our peers
We have also carried out a benchmarking 
exercise using the VfM metrics and the 
global accounts data 2018 produced by the 
RSH. This comparison is therefore based on 
2017/2018 figures.

We selected our peer group of 15 other 
organisations on the basis of stock numbers, 
type of association and location. The peer 
group is consistent with our previous year 
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comparison although reduced in number by 
mergers. It consists of A2Dominion; Catalyst; 
Genesis; Guinness; Hyde; London and 
Quadrant; Metropolitan; Network Homes; 
Notting Hill; Paradigm; Peabody; Radian; 
Southern; Sovereign; and Thames Valley. 
We also compared our relative position to all 
230 groups in the overall data. Our relative 
performance is set out opposite.

We performed well against our peers on all 
of the measures other than new supply of 
non-social housing delivered. We were the 
only organisation in our peer group to have no 
non-social homes handovers during the year, 
although there is work in progress on four 
separate schemes for open market sale. 

We also take part in the Sector Scorecard 
benchmarking exercise where additional 
metrics are calculated and compared against 
the same peer group. Although we were 11th 
in terms of occupancy rate, there was a small 
range covering all of the responses. On other 
measures we compared well. 

Moat key performance indicators 
(KPIs)
We produce a monthly performance report, 
covering all operational KPIs, which reviews 
current performance against targets, highlights 
unexpected movements and reforecasts our 
year end position. This report is circulated to 
the Board for information and is discussed 
at board meetings. The performance of KPIs 
is also discussed at relevant committee 
meetings. Additional KPIs monitored as part of 
this process are opposite.

The operating margin is lower than last year 
reflecting the lower margins achieved on first 
tranche sales, the reduction in sales values 
of some of our first tranche sale stock and 
the lower margin on social housing lettings. 
However we still exceeded our target with 
higher surpluses than budgeted on staircasings 
and redemptions (of shared ownership 
properties and equity loans respectively), 
together with a lower bad debt charge than 
expected. 

The management cost per home: all activities 
KPI is an internal measure which includes all 
payroll, including housing management teams, 
and office/overhead costs. We have restricted 
the increase over the previous year to 3.0%, 
and the actual cost per unit is £17 lower than 
our budgeted figure.

Strategic report
Value for money

Benchmarking against our peers - sector scorecard
Actual 

2017/2018
Ranking v 
peer group

Ratio of responsive repairs to planned maintenance 0.48 2nd

Occupancy rate 99.3% 11th

Overheads as a percentage of adjusted turnover 9.9% 3rd

Rent collected (percent of rent charged) 101.2% 1st

% of respondents very or fairly satisfied with the overall service 
(GN and HfOP)

80.5% 4th

Investment in communities (£000s) £2,421 5th

Actual 
2017/2018

Ranking v 
peer group

Ranking v 
total sector

Reinvestment % 7% 2nd 76th

New supply delivered (social housing units) % 3% 3rd 40th

New supply delivered (non-social housing units) % 0% 16th 74th

Gearing % 32% 2nd 55th

EBITDA MRI interest cover % 232% 3rd 81st

Headline social housing cost per unit £ £2,998 3rd 53rd

Operating margin %

  Operating margin (social housing lettings only) % 43% 4th 30th

  Operating margin (overall) % 34% 5th 57th

Return on capital employed % 5.13% 1st 67th

Benchmarking against our peers - VfM

Actual 
2018/2019

Target 
2018/2019

Actual
2017/2018

Operating margin: as per financial statements 40% 34% 44%

Management cost per home: all activities £1,124 £1,141 £1,091

Additional KPIs
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Strategic report
Value for money

We continue to monitor the high level 
performance of return on assets by comparing 
the surplus generated each year to average 
net assets, calculated as surplus for the year 
of £36.3m and the average of the opening 
and closing net assets of £397.5m. The return 
on net fixed assets less unamortised grant 
received is also monitored for rented and 
shared ownership (including first tranche sales) 
properties. These indicators have been chosen 
as they provide a broad measure of how 
successful the business has been in utilising its 
assets during the year.

The fall in the overall return on assets was 
expected as the reduction in our surplus for 
the year from £64.5m to £36.3m includes 
£17.2m less surplus from disposal of 
housing properties. Our stock rationalisation 
programme was substantially completed by 
March 2018, with only 26 properties being sold 
in the current year.

The decrease in the return on rented assets 
results mainly from the 1% rent cut together 
with increased maintenance costs and 
depreciation. 

Development spend
Given the level of our development pipeline, 
ensuring we obtain value for money on 
development expenditure is essential. We 
spent £165m on housing properties and 
housing stock for sale during the year. All 
development opportunities must be approved 
by the Capital Projects Committee. The MHL 
Board approves schemes over £25m and the 
MHG Board approves schemes over £10m. 
All open market sale activity is undertaken in 
MHG and schemes are individually appraised 
ensuring that expected returns, which will be 
used to cross subsidise affordable housing, are 
commensurate to the risks involved.

Potential developments are appraised using 
an in-house investment appraisal tool which 
assesses the long-term cost of funds together 
with management and maintenance costs. 
Assumptions within the appraisal model are 
discussed and approved at least annually by 
the Finance Committee. A hurdle rate of return 
is set by the Capital Projects Committee and 
all projects must achieve a satisfactory net 
present value for them to be approved. This 
ensures only schemes which are financially 
viable and sustainable are approved by the 
business.

The Capital Projects Committee is chaired 
by the Chief Executive and contains 
representatives from all areas of the business, 
who provide formal feedback on the schemes 
proposed by the development team. This 
ensures potential risks related to the housing 

market, future repairs, service charges and 
management costs can be identified before 
the schemes are approved. This Committee 
is responsible for monitoring the overall 
performance of the build programme against 
investment appraisals, as well as monitoring 
the planned utilisation of available funding 
facilities against a range of treasury risk 
parameters set by the Board.

In addition to Moat’s internal review, an 
independent VfM statement is prepared by an 
Employer’s Agent for each new development. 
This provides an additional layer of scrutiny to 
ensure the cost paid for new homes is in line 
with current market values and build costs are 
at market rates. 

The Finance Committee provides oversight on 
behalf of the Board, receiving a summary of 
approved schemes and their cumulative net 
present value at each meeting.

Procurement
We are a member of two procurement 
consortia, have a number of framework 
agreements with panels of service providers, 
and we involve the Procurement team in 
all tender activity with the aim of securing 
improved VfM while protecting the quality of 
our services and maintaining compliance with 
legislation.

As part of the procurement tendering process, 
larger tenders include a corporate social value 
element which we utilise in our community 
initiatives.

Our 2019/2020 budget includes cost savings 
of circa £2m from retendered contracts 
currently in place. This is across a range 
of contracts, principally covering property 
services but also insurance and administrative 
areas. 

Moody’s ratings assessment and 
comparison of rated registered 
providers
We use information published by Moody’s to 
assess our relative performance. In March 
2019 Moody’s published their annual ‘Sector 
In Depth' report for UK housing associations 
based on 2018 results. 

We are rated A2 by Moody’s. The report 
compares the key ratios of 40 housing 
associations, of which four are rated A1, 
11 are rated A2 and 19 as A3. Against this 
very strong peer group we ranked 12th on 
operating margin. This is an extremely positive 
achievement given our relatively substantial 
development programme and a testament to 
the quality of our risk management.

Whilst the Moody’s rating does not provide a 
direct opinion on VfM, it demonstrates Moody’s 
positive opinion of Moat’s strong financial 
performance, which leads to reduced funding 
costs on new borrowings.

Actual 
2018/2019

Actual
2017/2018

Surplus on average net assets 9.1% 18.3%

Return on net fixed assets less unamortised grant received:

   Rented 5.0% 5.6%

   Shared ownership 6.7% 6.7%

Return on assets
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Our key targets for next year Target

VfM metrics

Reinvestment % 8.8%

New supply delivered (social housing units) % 3.0%

New supply delivered (non-social housing units) % 0.2%

Gearing % <40%

EBITDA MRI interest cover % 200.4%

Headline social housing cost per unit £3,552

Operating margin (social housing lettings only) % 40.0%

Operating margin (overall) % 26.1%

Return on captial employed (ROCE) % 3.2%

Other financial

Operating margin: as per financial statements 32.9%

Management cost per homes: all activities £1,203

Delivering homes

New home starts 400

New build completions 592

Unsold homes: more than six months old 65

Operational

Overall satisfaction with services provided 80%

Routine repairs: right first time 95%

Current rent arrears: general needs, housing for older people, supported:

- excluding Universal Credit 2.35%

- Universal Credit 9.00%

Void turnaround in days 17

Strategic report
Value for money

Targets for 2019/2020
Our key targets for next year are shown 
opposite. Areas we have focused on in 
2018/2019 have been discussed in our 
performance review, including our digital first 
approach and arrears which were highlighted 
last year. For the coming year we will focus on:

Unsold homes – we have a large portfolio 
of handovers of properties for sale in the 
coming year. In addition to the 149 first 
tranche sale properties available for sale 
at 31 March 2019, we are forecasting a 
further 449 homes will become available 
for sale during the year. The timing of these 
handovers means that we will also be 
carrying a similar level of unsold homes at 
31 March 2020. We will be closely 
monitoring sales values and our 
performance.

Housing management system – we are in 
the process of a major project to replace 
our housing management system in the 
coming year. We have selected the new 
software and have project management 
and additional resources in place to achieve 
a successful implementation.

Digital strategy – we will be continuing to 
push the use of our MyMoat portal to our 
customers with a target of 7,000 of our 
customers to be registered by 
31 March 2020. We will also be adding to 
the functionality of mobile working. 

Asset management – we are carrying 
out a benchmarking review of our asset 
management costs and asset lives used in 
our asset management long-term plan.
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Strategic report
Our finances

Our overall financial 
strength enables 
us to continue the 
development of new 
affordable homes 
together with managing 
and maintaining all of 
our homes. 

Our operating surplus is £51.9m (2018: 
£54.9m), impacted by a £1.9m reduction in 
the value of the first tranche portion of shared 
ownership properties to reflect market values. 
The fall in the overall surplus for the year of 
£28.2m to £36.3m (2018: £64.5m) is explained 
by the decreases in the gain on disposals of 
fixed assets by £17.2m and last year's upward 
movement in fair values by £7.3m.

Social housing lettings
The operating margin on social housing 
lettings has fallen to 40% (2018: 43%). Rental 
income has increased by £1.9m, as although 
we had a 1% decrease in rents for our rented 
homes, there were increases as per leases 
for our shared ownership homes and we 
had additional income from new homes. The 
margin fell however as operating costs have 
increased by £4.7m. Maintenance spend 
is £2.2m higher, which incorporates the 
increase in spend on asbestos surveys and 
related works (£0.6m), additional spend on 
fire risk assessments and works (£0.7m), a 
higher volume of day to day repairs (£0.3m). 
Increased service charge costs are recovered 
through service charge income. The larger 
portfolio of housing properties has increased 
housing properties depreciation by £1.4m.

First tranche sales
There were 275 first tranche sales (2018: 
239) in the year earning a margin of 14.7%, 
as compared to the 20.0% margin earned 
on sales in the previous year. The reduction 
in margin means that although there were a 
higher number of sales at a higher margin than 
budgeted, the surplus of £4.2m is £0.9m less 
than 2017/2018. The current difficult market 
conditions are reflected by the number of 
homes unsold for more than six months at 
the end of the year, 63 as compared to 10 at 
March 2018. We have carried out a review 
of net realisable value of properties for sale 
currently in construction, which has led to a 
reduction in value of £1.9m. This includes an 
increase in sales and marketing costs as based 
on current experience we are finding that it 
takes more effort to sell.

Other operating activities
Other operating costs include £0.9m net spend 
on the Pollards Hill regeneration (2018: £1.7m), 
as a large proportion of the works costs of 
£8.9m (2018: £8.3m) has been capitalised to 
housing properties. We have also included 
£0.6m for the demolition costs of Pilgrim 
Springs, where we are progressing plans to 
redevelop.

In terms of development activities, we spent 
£2.5m which covers staffing and overhead 
costs (2018: £2.3m). We have reviewed our 
schemes in development for impairment 
triggers and have impaired one scheme 
by £0.4m where construction costs have 
increased due to a contractor going into 
liquidation. 

We have spent £0.9m (2018: £0.7m) on our 
community investment activities.

Staircasings and redemptions
Our subsequent sales of shared ownership 
properties and equity loan redemptions 
continued to perform well. We achieved 
margins of 54.8% (2018: 51.2%) on 162 
staircasings and 35.4% on 138 redemptions 
(2018: 34.0%).

Overall operating margin
Our overall margin remains very strong at 
40%, although reducing by 3%. Given our 
additional spend on health and safety issues, 
the first tranche sale profile in the year and the 
current difficult economic climate, this level of 
operating margin demonstrates our underlying 
financial strength.

Stock rationalisation
Stock rationalisation disposals realised a 
surplus of £2.9m (2018: £20.1m) as only 26 
homes were sold as compared to 300 homes 
sold in 2017/2018. Our stock rationalisation 
programme is now substantially complete.
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Income and expenditure 2018/2019
£m

2017/2018
£m

2016/2017
£m

2015/2016
£m

2014/2015
£m

Income from social housing lettings 99.6 97.1 95.7 93.1 86.7

First tranche sale proceeds 28.5 25.1 23.2 25.1 16.7

Other income 2.3 2.1 2.1 2.5 7.9

Turnover 130.4 124.3 121.0 120.7 111.3

Operating costs from social housing lettings (59.7) (55.6) (54.1) (55.1) (52.0)

Cost of first tranche sales (24.3) (20.0) (16.0) (14.9) (11.7)

Other operating costs (8.8) (6.3) (7.0) (5.7) (9.0)

Gain on disposal of fixed assets (staircasings and redemptions) 14.3 12.5 10.9 10.2 8.0

Operating surplus 51.9 54.9 54.8 55.2 46.6

Gain on disposal of fixed assets 2.9 20.1 14.4 2.4 0.8

Gain on disposal of investments - - - 2.0 -

Movement in fair values - 7.3 (0.7) (0.8) (6.8)

Net interest costs (18.4) (17.8) (20.7) (20.5) (19.5)

Taxation - (0.1) 0.3 (0.4) (0.2)

Surplus for the year 36.3 64.5 48.1 37.9 20.9

Operating margin 40% 44% 45% 46% 42%

Operating margin: social housing lettings 40% 43% 43% 41% 40%

Strategic report
Our finances

Funding costs
There has been a small downward movement 
in the value of financial instruments not treated 
as hedging instruments in the year, compared 
to a £7.3m gain in the previous year. In other 
comprehensive income, the fair value of our 
interest rate swaps which are accounted for as 
hedging our loan portfolio has fallen by £3.8m 
(2018: gain of £1.3m).

Net interest costs have increased by £0.6m to 
£18.4m (2018: £17.8m). Although borrowings 
increased by £57m, we continued to benefit 
from low interest rates and the benefit of swap 

breaks carried out in March 2018. We made 
the decision to incur break costs of £2.3m in 
March 2019 in respect of three swap facilities 
with a total value of £60m and one forward 
fixed rate loan with a value of £20m. Other 
things being equal, this will reduce interest 
costs by £2.4m throughout 2019/2020. We 
capitalised interest of £3.7m (2018: £3.4m). 

Pensions
From 1 April 2018 it is possible to identify the 
share of the underlying assets and liabilities 
belonging to individual participating employers 
in the defined benefit Social Housing Pension 

Scheme (SHPS). The past service deficit 
funding liability (£6.4m) and opening pension 
deficit of £11.1m are included in other 
comprehensive income, together with the 
2018/2019 actuarial loss of £2.8m. 

Gearing
There has been an expected rise in gearing 
to 35% (2018: 32%) as additional funding 
has been required to meet our growth in 
housing properties and our further planned 
development pipeline.

Financial position 2018/2019
£m

2017/2018
£m

2016/2017
£m

2015/2016
£m

2014/2015
£m

Housing properties 1,421 1,325 1,268 1,235 1,183

Other fixed assets 65 69 74 84 96

Net current assets 35 69 55 38 21

Housing loans, grants and other long term liabilities (1,111) (1,078) (1,078) (1,083) (1,062)

Capital and reserves 410 385 319 274 238

Gearing 35% 32% 32% 30% 30%
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The maturity profile of the existing loan portfolio is:
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Strategic report
Our finances

Treasury
Our Treasury Policy is designed to ensure 
sufficient liquidity and to reduce our exposure 
to risk. It is reviewed by the Finance Committee 
annually. 

Liquidity
Borrowings at 31 March 2019 were £515m 
(2018: £458m) and there were undrawn 
facilities in place of £163m (2018: £102m), 
which together with cash of £20m (2018: 
£32m) gave available liquidity of £183m (2018: 
£134m). The debt is mostly borrowed from 
banks and building societies in the UK as well 
as from the capital markets through bond 
issuance with an own-name bond of £150m. 
All loans are secured by first fixed charges over 
housing properties.

During 2018/2019 we were able to 
successfully complete £135m of additional 
funding through the issue of two short term five 
year revolving credit facilities (£60m Santander 
and £75m HBOS/Lloyds). 

The breakdown of drawn and undrawn facilities 
by funder is shown opposite. 

Refinancing risk is managed by ensuring that a 
minimal proportion of the overall debt portfolio 
is repayable over the next five years. The 
maturity profile of the existing loan portfolio is 
shown opposite.

The main factor affecting the amount and 
timing of borrowing is the pace of the 
development programme and we will be 
seeking to raise additional funds later this 
financial year to ensure compliance with our 
conservative liquidity policy. 

Cash surpluses are invested in highly-rated 
UK regulated institutions. We currently hold a 
minimum of £15m of strategic investments in 
instant access AAA-rated money market funds 
to mitigate against disruption in borrowing 
against committed loan facilities.

£160m

£140m

£120m

£100m

£80m

£60m

£40m

£20m

0

Undrawn

Drawn
The breakdown of drawn and undrawn facilities by funder is: 

HBOS/LloydsSantander Nationwide RBS/NatWest Fresh Plc MHF Bond AHF/EIB loan

£180m
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Hedging
Our hedging strategy seeks to manage interest 
rate risk by requiring between 60%-90% of our 
debt to be at fixed rates. Interest rate swap 
agreements are in place to hedge against 
exposure to variable interest rates. We monitor 
market conditions for opportunities to reduce 
future borrowing costs and if identified we may 
enter into new swaps and/or break or modify 
existing swaps. Interest rate swaps are marked 
to market with movements in the fair value 
shown in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. The financial impact on 2018/2019 is 
discussed in the Financial Review. 

Currency risk
There is no currency risk as all borrowings and 
deposits are in Sterling.

Covenants
Our primary covenants on our debt facilities 
are set at borrowing entity level. Our bank 
loans have both interest cover and gearing 
covenants, whilst our public bond requires 
the maintenance of required asset cover. 
Our covenants are closely monitored 
throughout the year and were complied 
with at 31 March 2019.

Cash flows
The Group statement of cash flows is on page 
48. The statement shows continued high 
levels of capital spend on fixed asset housing 
properties at £113m (2018: £100m). Within 
cash generated from operating activities, the 
net increase in housing stock of £25m 
(2018: £21m) also incorporates £53m 
(2018: £32m) expenditure on new properties 
for sale. The expenditure has been funded 
mainly by cash generated from first tranche 
sales (£28m), fixed asset property sales (£32m) 
and drawdown of funds.

Public bond
The £150m, 5% 2041, secured bond was 
issued by Moat Homes Finance plc in 2011 
when £100m was sold to investors, and the 
remaining £50m was sold during 2013/2014. 
The finance raised has been lent to MHL under 
a secured loan agreement. The interest payable 
on the bond is fixed rate therefore there is no 
exposure to variable rate movements. The 
interest payable by MHL to MHF is at the same 
fixed rate. The bond is secured by a first fixed 
charge over housing properties, valued at 
market value subject to tenancy, which meets 
the asset cover ratio. The properties charged 
are owned by MHL and under a Security Trust 
Deed provide the security for the intergroup 
loan and the Bond. 

The position at 31 March 2019 including interest rate swaps was:

2019 2018
£m % £m %

Variable rate 11 1 22% 62 14%

Fixed rate 404 78% 396 86%

Total borrowings 515 458

Our houisng assets are financed by:

2019 2018
£m % £m %

Housing properties at cost 1,583 1,478

Depreciation and impairment (162) (153)

1,421 1,325

Financed by:

Loans (net of cash) 495 35% 425 32%

Grant 449 32% 451 34%

Reserves 468 32% 439 33%

Other 9 1% 10 1%

1,421 100% 1,325 100%



Langley Square

We have a selection of one 
and two bedroom apartments 
for shared ownership at the 
prestigious Langley Square in 
Dartford, Kent.

Situated ideally next to 
Dartford train station, this 
riverside development has 
been extremely popular and 
these homes are expected to 
sell out quickly.



Risks

Our risk management 
approach is defined within 
our Risk Strategy and 
Management Framework 
which is reviewed and 
updated by the Audit 
Committee annually. 

The aim of the strategy is to ensure that 
risks are identified and managed effectively 
with an acceptable level of residual risk to 
the business. We also have a Risk Appetite 
Statement which is approved by the Board 
annually.

Risks are divided into operational risks, which 
are managed by the Senior Leadership Team 
and reviewed quarterly by the Executive Team, 
and strategic risks which are reviewed at every 
Audit Committee meeting and by the Board 
twice each year. Risks are monitored based 
on their potential impact and likelihood of 
occurrence. The register details the risk, the 
risk rating and trend and mitigating actions that 
are being taken.

During the year, one new highly rated risk was 
added to our Strategic Risk Register. While 
the impact of Brexit was being considered 
in relation to the other individual risks, it was 
decided that given the continuing uncertainty 
it should be treated as a specific risk. Three 
other risks continued to be rated as high risks. 
Details of these are noted below together with 
mitigating actions:

Brexit
Like other providers, we monitor the political 
situation and review our activities and plans 
in response to events/announcements as 
appropriate. We undertook the Bank of 
England Brexit stress test, which is a worst-
case scenario and are satisfied that we can 
survive the scenario that the Bank of England 
have outlined. We have also compiled an 
operational plan for a worst-case Brexit 
covering customer, development, finance, IT 
systems, people and property.

Exposure to falling house prices, 
particularly in market sale business 
and shared ownership
We mitigate this risk by taking a conservative 
approach to valuations and first tranche 
share levels in investment appraisals. Values 
are updated every three months to ensure 
we have a clear view on our exposure on all 

projects in contract. Data on all potential sales 
for the year is kept under continual review by 
the Executive Team and the Board including 
the likely surplus/deficit on first tranche sales 
for all homes to be sold in the year. Exposure 
to outright sales is contained within the 
subsidiary, MHG.

Reduced availability of credit 
impacting on the ability to sell shared 
ownership products
Over the last few years we have mitigated this 
risk by marketing the majority of new homes 
up to a year before handover and maintaining 
lists of interested applicants before the scheme 
is launched. We engage regularly in direct 
discussions with mortgage providers as well as 
Independent Financial Advisors on our panel. 
This helps us to monitor mortgage lending 
trends and any emerging policy changes as 
well as ensure new product models will be 
backed by appropriate mortgage offers. 

Welfare Reform impact, leading to 
increased customer debt
In response to the proposed changes to the 
housing benefits system we have improved 
rent collection protocols and resources, 
enhanced early intervention measures, 
provided closer support through the financial 
wellbeing team, and assigned specific resource 
to engage with those at high risk of arrears. We 
have introduced an online payment facility via 
our website, which should help to free up staff 
resource to deal with customers who are at risk 
of falling behind with payments. We continue 
to actively engage with under-occupiers and 
are working with local authorities to offer 
support where required. Rent payments 
of those affected by under occupation are 
separately tracked and analysed. We have 
also been actively pursuing Discretionary 
Housing Payments and Alternative Payment 
Arrangements, where appropriate, to ensure 
that tenancies are safeguarded. 

Strategic report
Risks
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Strategic report
Governance

Governance

Our Board is responsible 
for the strategic direction 
of Moat, and ensuring the 
business is run effectively 
and efficiently to achieve 
the long term ambition to 
eliminate housing need.

Regulatory compliance
During the year, we completed the disposal of 
26 units to a non-charitable for-profit provider. 
Following the identification of the disposal in 
our regulatory returns, the Regulator of Social 
Housing (RSH) reactively engaged with us to 
consider if our current judgements (G1/V1) 
required reconsideration.

The RSH concluded that we had not 
adequately reflected in our decision making 
the changed operating environment arising 
from deregulation measures which removed 
the regulator’s powers to give consents 
for disposals. They judged that there was 
insufficient Board oversight of the disposal, 
therefore the Board was unable to assure 
itself that the disposal met legal and regulatory 
requirements. Consequently, our governance 
rating was changed from G1 to G2 in 
November 2018.

In response, we commissioned an independent 
external review into the root cause of what 
happened with a view to identifying what 
lessons could be learned. In tandem, another 
review of the delegations and terms of 
reference in how they apply to decisions 
around development and disposals was 
completed. 

The resultant reports were considered by a 
Task and Finish Group of the Board along 
with an Action Plan put in place to address 
weakness identified and improvements 
required. The Board was kept up to date 
with progress of the Action Plan through to 
completion. 

The Regulator has since undertaken an In 
Depth Assessment during March 2019, and on 
29 May 2019 returned our governance rating 
to G1. 

In accordance with regulatory requirements, 
we completed an annual assessment of our 
compliance with the regulatory standards and 
can confirm that we are fully compliant in all 
material respects. 
 

Code of Governance
The Board has adopted the main principles of 
the UK Corporate Governance Code and have 
complied with its provisions as far as they can 
reasonably be applied to a registered provider 
with charitable objectives. The areas of non-
compliance are:

C.1.3 – We do not produce half-yearly 
financial statements, these are not required 
by the RSH; and

E.1, E.1.1, and E.1.2 – The requirements 
in relation to dialogue with shareholders 
who are not non-executives. Of our 11 
shareholders, eight are non-executives and 
all 11 have equal shareholdings.

Organisational structure
Our Board is made up of non-executive 
members and executives. Board member 
details are set out on page 31. At the date of 
approving these financial statements the Board 
consisted of eight non-executives and three 
executives. Two new members of the Board 
were appointed during the year, however, one 
resigned due to a promotion at his permanent 
place of work which impacted on his capacity 
to commit to Moat. 

Recruitment and selection of new members is 
based upon the skill set of the Board, aligned 
with the current and planned activities of the 
group. Board composition is also monitored 
against Moat’s Equality and Diversity Policy.

The Board undertakes an annual review of its 
performance collectively as well as appraising 
each member individually. During the year, 
the Board has reviewed the membership 
of committees, updated its skills audit and 
considered succession planning. As well as 
formal Board meetings, there is an annual 
awayday to review strategy, and training 
sessions.

25  Moat Financial Statements 2018/2019



Strategic report
Governance

The Board delegates some of its 
responsibilities to the Executive Team, who are 
listed on page 31 and to Committees. These 
delegations have been reviewed and updated 
to address findings from the independent 
external review. There are five Committees 
and each has a group-wide remit with clear 
terms of reference and delegated authority. 
Membership of Committees and attendance 
records are listed on page 32. The detailed 
Terms of Reference are reviewed annually and 
are summarised online at moat.co.uk. 

Audit Committee
The role of the Audit Committee is to 
monitor the integrity of accounts, review 
the effectiveness of internal control systems 
including management, operational, and 
financial controls, and to monitor Moat’s risk 
management systems. As part of this work the 
committee monitors the terms of appointment 
and work of both the internal and external 
auditors, and has a direct and regular line of 
communication with them.

Finance Committee
The role of the Finance Committee is to 
monitor Moat’s financial performance and 
overall development capital commitments.  
The Committee also ensures that Moat adopts 
sound treasury management, borrowing, and 
investment policies and strategies.

Customer and Communities Committee
The Customer and Communities Committee 
oversees the delivery of Moat’s landlord 
function and great service for Moat’s 
customers across all tenures including 
the framework by which Moat’s service to 
customers is managed together with digital 
initiatives to improve services. The Committee 
reviews Moat’s customer engagement 
strategies and processes for providing 
customers with information/feedback and in 
conjunction with Moat Foundation, ensure MHL 
community development activities are targeted 
and consistent with Moat’s social purpose. 

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is responsible 
for reviewing the remuneration of the Chief 
Executive, the Executive Team, senior 
management, and non-executive directors. 

Governance and Nominations Committee
The role of the Governance and Nominations 
Committee is to review the effectiveness of 
governance arrangements, the composition of 
the Board and Committees, and succession 
planning. The Committee also leads the 
process for Board appointments, making 
recommendations to the Board for its approval. 
External recruitment consultants assisted the 
Committee with the recruitment of new non-
executive directors. 

Approved by the Board and signed by:

Steve White
Chair

25 July 2019
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Report of the Audit Committee

Report of the 
Audit Committee

The Board delegates 
certain of its duties and 
responsibilities and powers 
to the Audit Committee, 
so that these can receive 
suitably focused attention.

The Committee’s principal purpose is to 
ensure, on behalf of the Board, that financial 
reporting, the audit process and systems 
of internal control and risk management are 
appropriate and effective across all parts of 
Moat. 

The Committee meets its responsibilities by 
receiving assurances from the Executive Team 
and other senior managers of Moat, receiving 
and reviewing reports on risk management 
and internal control procedures, and directing 
the work of and receiving reports from the 
internal and external auditors.  The Executive 
Director: Finance and Corporate Services 
presents the annual financial statements 
which the Committee reviews and scrutinises 
through questioning the external auditor and 
management.

Composition
The Committee comprises three non-executive 
directors as shown on page 32 together with 
their attendance record.  

In addition to the formal members of the 
Committee, the following were invited to attend 
during the year:

Chief Executive

Executive Director: Finance and Corporate 
Services and Company Secretary

Director of Accounting Services

Director of Corporate Finance and Risk

Interim Head of Governance and 
Compliance

Head of Health, Safety and Facilities 
Management

External and internal audit representatives

Other occasional attendees included the 
other executive directors.

Meetings and activities 
during the year
Four meetings were held during the financial 
year. Standard items monitored at each 
meeting:

Strategic Risk Register – reviews the status 
of strategic risks and updates the mitigating 
actions and considers any emerging risks 
which may need to be added.

Internal Audit – approves the annual 
programme ensuring key risks are covered; 
reviews each internal audit report for findings 
and best practice recommendations, 
management responses and actions; monitors 
subsequent progress.

Health and Safety (H&S) – receives a report on 
H&S audits, H&S performance and changes to 
legislation and best practice.

Fraud, Whistleblowing, and Money Laundering 
Monitoring – receives reports of any suspected 
fraudulent activity, whistle-blowing reports, or 
suspected money laundering and monitors any 
open cases.

Benefits and Payments Register – reviews the 
benefits and payments register for transactions 
with individuals or organisations with links to 
Moat.

Work Programme – at each meeting 
the Committee reviews its forward work 
programme over a rolling 12 month period and 
the principal theme for each meeting.
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January 2019
Internal Audit Tender Update
External Audit Plan for 2018/2019
Asset and Liability Register
Update report on Data Protection
Report on Cyber Security.

External Audit
BDO LLP was appointed in 2016 following 
a tendering exercise conducted by the 
Committee, and was re-appointed as auditor 
for the 2018/2019 Financial Statements at the 
AGM. The fee for audit was approved by the 
Committee when it reviewed the External Audit 
Plan in January 2019.

At the July 2019 meeting, the Committee 
reviewed and discussed together with 
management and BDO these consolidated 
financial statements. This Committee also 
discussed BDO’s Audit Completion Report. 
In terms of significant risks of material 
misstatement in the financial statements this 
included two key audit matters identified by 
BDO:

Impairment of properties developed for sale 
(first tranche and open market sale) – this is 
a strategic risk identified in the strategic risk 
register and reviewed at each Committee 
meeting, see page 24. Note 2 on page 53 
discusses the critical judgements used in 
carrying out the impairment review.

Recognition of Social Housing Pension 
Scheme (SHPS) liability – the SHPS Defined 
Benefit Scheme has been accounted for 
as a defined benefit scheme for the first 
time. Information was provided by TPT 
Retirement Solutions and we consider that 
the principal actuarial assumptions used by 
the actuary are appropriate for Moat and no 
changes to assumptions have been made.

For both of these areas the Committee 
considered the key facts and judgements 
outlined by management, who answered 
any queries or challenges posed by the 
Committee. The Committee also reviewed a 

Other specific matters considered during  
the year:

April 2018
Accounting policies
Internal controls assurance: Key policies 
and procedures review
Internal auditor’s annual report
Anti-Money Laundering Policy
Moat’s Disaster Recovery and Business 
Continuity Plans
Update report on GDPR 
Report on potential tenancy fraud and 
sub-letting

July 2018
Annual assurance to the Board for 
Financial Statements 
External auditor’s audit completion report
Agreement on draft Letter of Representation 
to the external auditor
Draft Financial Statements for Group and 
subsidiaries for 2017/2018
Private meeting with the external and 
internal auditors (no executives present)
Data Protection Update
Private meeting to review effectiveness 
of Audit Committee

November 2018
Effectiveness of external and internal audit 
service provision
Risk Management Framework
Whistleblowing Policy
Anti-Fraud and Anti-Bribery Policy, and 
the Fraud Response Plan
Annual review of insurance renewal terms
Update report on Data Protection
GLA Compliance Report

paper detailing impairment work carried out. 
The issues were also discussed with BDO and 
further information can be found in their report 
on page 39. The Committee was satisfied 
that there are relevant accounting policies in 
place in relation to these significant issues 
and management have correctly applied these 
policies.

The Committee also reviewed a report on 
the annual board assurances in the financial 
statements, detailing the assurances given and 
the work performed to ensure compliance.  
Assurances covered included:

Appropriateness of adopting the going 
concern basis
Compliance with UK Corporate Code 
of Governance
Compliance with the Regulator of Social 
Housing’s Governance and Financial Viability 
Standard and VfM Standard
Strategic Report and financial statements 
taken as a whole are fair, balanced and 
understandable and that the Strategic 
Report follows the principles of the SORP
Judgements and accounting estimates are 
reasonable
Internal control assurance and key control 
policies review.

The Committee was satisfied that these 
assurances could be given.

Report of the Audit Committee
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Internal Audit
Internal audit services for the year continued 
to be provided by Price Waterhouse Coopers 
(PwC), who were appointed in 2014 following 
a tendering exercise conducted by the 
Committee. A further tendering exercise 
took place during 2018 after which PwC 
were re-appointed. The annual internal audit 
programme is agreed in advance by the 
Committee but remains flexible in order to 
respond to any concerns that may arise. PwC 
adopt a risk-based approach to their audits.

The audits carried out during the year and the 
assessed risk levels reported to the Committee 
are shown opposite.

Internal Audit resource continues to be directed 
purposely towards areas where management, 
the Board, or PwC, raise concerns of 
increased risk and/or suspicion that controls 
may be weak or failing. In depth end-to-end, 
cross-functional reviews are undertaken 
to ensure processes are considered in 
their entirety. This is possible because of 
the assurance PwC gains from a 'Senior 
Leadership Team Quarterly Sign Off' process 
which is subject to annual audit by PwC. 
This robust, departmental, quarterly internal 
assurance process covers a wide range of 
operational risks and associated controls.

In relation to the high risk areas: 

PwC audited our GDPR arrangements 
in October 2018 and rated the control 
environment as high risk. A number of 
recommendations were made to strengthen 
the controls and procedures, which a 
subsequent follow-up review in March 2019 
concluded had all been implemented.

This was the first audit of lone working 
procedures by PwC and a number of issues 
were highlighted. An action plan is in place 
to address all of the issues and PwC will 
conduct a follow-up to ensure that all the 
improvements have been made.

PwC concluded that ‘based on the work 
completed the higher risk findings identified are 
isolated to the specific systems and processes 
to which they relate’. Also that, ‘when taken 
in aggregate, these risks are not considered 
pervasive to the system of internal control as 
a whole’.

PwC has undertaken a follow-up review of prior 
findings and Executive Directors and other 
Moat officials attended committee meetings 
to provide explanations as appropriate. 
Outstanding action points continue to be kept 
to a minimum, with completion dates proposed 
by management challenged as appropriate by 
the internal auditor and Committee.

Report of the Audit Committee

Report risk classification

Business area Critical High Medium Low

Senior leadership team quarterly sign-off

General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR)

Crisis Response – Major Incident Plan

Key financial controls

Lone Working 

Health and Safety FLAGE actions

Internal audits

Specialist health and safety audits
In depth technical audits were undertaken by 
independent consultants on each of the key 
FLAGE areas: fire, legionella, asbestos, gas, 
and electricity during 2017/2018. All their 
recommendations were included in action 
plans, and progress reported regularly to the 
Audit Committee. A review by PwC in March 
2019 concluded this area as low risk.

Summary and Conclusion
The Committee has examined the manner in 
which the Board and management ensure 
and monitor the adequacy of the nature, 
extent and effectiveness of internal control 
systems, and has concluded that sufficient 
reviews of the risk management and internal 
control arrangements are in place. These 
arrangements are designed to manage rather 
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve 
business objectives and can only provide 
reasonable, not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement or loss.

The Committee is satisfied that its own report 
and those of the Internal and External Auditors 
cover all necessary matters and are supported 
by appropriate evidence to provide reasonable 
assurance to the Board on the adequacy 
and operations of internal controls. These 
controls include reliance upon assurances 
from the executive on risk mitigation activities 
and the operation of both operational and 
financial reporting controls, and that these 
are incorporated into normal governance 
procedures.
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Pollards Hill

This year saw the majority 
of our regeneration works at 
Pollards Hill being carried out. 
Over a three year period we will 
have spent over £23m on the 
regeneration.

The regeneration has a big 
focus on helping the community 
improve their lives and their 
neighbourhood. An example is a 
business start-up studio, funded 
by Moat and United Living, 
which provides affordable 
workspace, mentoring and 
advice to allow the young 
entrepreneurs to network and 
provide support for each other.
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Moat Homes Limited Board Number of meetings attended 
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Steve White (appointed chair May 2018) Independent, Chair 7
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Tim Boag Independent 7

Mark Foster Independent 7
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Greg Taylor Executive 7
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Elizabeth Austerberry
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Steve Nunn  
Executive Director: Development and  
New Business

Greg Taylor  
Executive Director: Finance and  
Corporate Services

Directors’ report
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Audit Committee Number of meetings attended 
(4 in total)

Gerard McCormack Chair 4

Mark Foster 4

Elizabeth Rantzen 4

Finance Committee Number of meetings attended  
(4 in total)

Tim Boag Chair 4

Ian Lindsay (until May 2018) 1

Gerard McCormack 4

Neil Rudge (resigned January 2019) 1

Steve White 4

Greg Taylor 4

Customer & Communities Committee Number of meetings attended  
(4 in total)

Elizabeth Rantzen Chair 4

Mark Foster 4

Jo Moran 4

Anne-Britt Karunaratne 4

Remuneration Committee Number of meetings attended  
(3 in total)

Jo Moran Chair 3

Ian Lindsay (until February 2019) 1

Jane Marsh (appointed September 2018) -

Steve White 3

Governance & Nominations Committee Number of meetings attended  
(3 in total)

Steve White Chair 3

Ian Lindsay (until February 2019) 1

Jane Marsh (appointed September 2018) -

Jo Moran 3

Directors’ report



33  Moat Financial Statements 2018/2019

Directors’ report
Moat Homes Limited Board biographies

Board biographies
Steve White
Independent Chair

Steve joined Moat’s Board in July 2016 and became Chair in May 2018. Steve has spent most of his 
career leading organisations through large transformational change, including four and a half years as 
Chief Executive of the Hyde Group, during which time he developed a passion for all things housing. 
Steve has also been the Chairman of Origin Housing and has worked as an independent interim 
executive including senior roles at The Law Society, University of Southampton, Solicitors Regulation 
Authority, RBS and T Mobile.

Mark Foster
Independent Director

Mark joined Moat’s Board in May 2016. He has spent most of his career in the entertainment industry in 
various marketing and international development roles. He has been at the forefront of digital transformation, 
particularly in the music and cinema sectors, affecting all aspects of business including customer 
engagement, marketing and reporting. Mark brings fresh perspective to Moat, as we seek to transform 
in order to better meet the needs of customers and stakeholders. Mark also serves as a Non-Executive 
Director for 7Digital Group, is Chairman of MIDiA Research, and is a private property investor and landlord. 

Tim Boag
Independent Director

Tim has had an extensive career with RBS/NatWest undertaking a variety of roles throughout Corporate 
& Commercial Banking,  Finance and Risk.  He has led coverage and financing businesses delivering 
to clients across a wide range of industry sectors. He was a Director of the Business Growth Fund and 
member of RemCo for seven years since inception in 2011.  Until recently, a member of the CBI London 
Council and previously on the Chartered Banker Professional Standards Board.

Jo Moran
Senior Independent Director

Jo joined Moat’s Board in June 2014. She is Head of Customer Service at Marks & Spencer, where her 
focus is on championing, planning and delivering the customer experience across all channels for the UK 
operation. Until July 2015, Jo was also Chair of Governors for her local primary school, taking an active 
role in putting her business skills to use in the community. It is as a result of this work that Jo has come 
to understand the key importance of stable and decent housing provision particularly in the context of 
successful education.



Ian Lindsay
Independent Director

Ian joined Moat’s Board in June 2014. He is currently a partner at Aspire CP – a property consultancy  
specialising in strategic land acquisition and development management. Prior to Aspire CP, Ian served as 
Crossrail’s Land and Property Director for 7 years and before that was at Network Rail taking forward  
commercial re-developments of the main London and regional stations. Ian is a chartered surveyor and 
passionate about housing, having started his career as a housing officer and previously served on the board of 
Hexagon housing association. He has also worked at the Housing Corporation and as the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham’s Assistant Director for Regeneration and Housing.
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Elizabeth Rantzen
Independent Director

A Moat Board member since December 2016, Elizabeth’s background is with commercial organisations, in 
IT, retail and legal businesses; she now works exclusively in the public and not-for-profit sectors. She became 
involved in housing as a trustee of a small homelessness charity in London and spent many years on the board 
of Shelter, and as Director of the J Paul Getty Jr Trust, funding a range of innovative housing and community 
initiatives. Elizabeth’s other roles include Vice Chair of West London Mental Health Trust, Treasurer of the Prison 
Reform Trust and independent member of the Parole Board.

Jane Marsh
Independent Director

Jane joined Moat’s Board in September 2018. She was until recently the People and Culture Director of 
Innocent Drinks and has extensive HR experience across a number of sectors ranging from global multi 
nationals to smaller UK based companies. Jane is also a qualified solicitor, having spent the early part 
of her career in the City specialising in employment and pension law. Jane is a passionate advocate of 
developing people and driving employee engagement to deliver strong business outcomes.

Gerard McCormack
Independent Director

Appointed to the Board in February 2015, Gerry brings 12 years of sector experience from his time as an 
Independent Director and Chair of Audit and Risk at Thames Valley Housing. A Scottish Chartered Accountant  
with a law degree, he has worked as Group Finance Director in publicly listed companies with substantial 
housebuilding and construction businesses. Gerry takes pride in putting his executive commercial and financial 
experience to work for the benefit of the social housing sector. He currently provides strategic and financial 
advice to a number of privately owned businesses and serves on the board of a not-for-profit regulatory body 
as Audit Committee Chair.
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Elizabeth Austerberry
Chief Executive

Elizabeth was appointed Chief Executive of Moat in January 2013, bringing her wealth of strategic, 
operational and financial management experience. Previously at Ernst & Young, Elizabeth was responsible 
for housing and residential real estate consultancy, and took a secondment to HM Treasury as a Director 
in the Asset Protection Agency. Previous roles include Managing Director of International Housing 
Solutions and Director at DTZ and at Savills.

Steve Nunn
Executive Director: Development and New Business

Steve was appointed as Moat’s Executive Director: Development and New Business in April 2009.  
He has worked in the housing sector since 1989. He spent 18 years at the London and Quadrant Group  
where his last role as Managing Director of the home ownership specialist, Tower Homes, saw him lead  
on Tower Homes’ three star audit inspection.

Greg Taylor
Executive Director: Finance and Corporate Services

Greg was appointed as Moat’s Executive Director of Finance in December 2009. He was also the interim 
Chief Executive in 2012. He was previously the Finance Director of Cert Octavian plc. (a national logistics 
organisation) and held senior financial positions with Northgate plc and Schlumberger. He trained as a 
Chartered Accountant with Deloitte & Touche in London. Greg is also a qualified corporate treasurer. 

Anne-Britt Karunaratne
Executive Director: Housing and Customer Services

Anne-Britt was appointed in October 2017 and works with Moat’s Executive Management Team to further 
develop Moat’s vision for the future to meet the needs of both customers and stakeholders. Anne-Britt 
leads on customer operations, continually reviewing our customer offer to ensure we are a strong and 
approachable landlord. Passionate about customer service, Anne-Britt is a firm believer in the importance 
of understanding the needs of the customer and of developing staff in order to deliver consistent, quality 
services. Anne-Britt has worked in the housing sector since 1986 in both the social and private sectors.
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The directors present their annual report on the 
affairs of the Group together with the financial 
statements and auditor’s report, for the year 
ended 31 March 2019.

Principal activities 
MHL is a registered provider of social housing 
which is regulated by the Regulator of Social 
Housing (RSH). The activities of MHL and 
its subsidiaries, which form the Moat Group 
(Moat) are detailed in the Strategic Report.

Business review
Details of Moat’s performance for the year 
and its future plans are set out in the Strategic 
Report and form part of this report by cross-
reference. 

Post year end events
There have been no events post 31 March 
2019 which require disclosure. 

Reserves
Moat’s year end reserves for 2019 were 
£410.2m (2018: £384.8m), including a cash 
flow hedge reserve of £58.3m (2018: £54.5m)

Board members and executive 
officers
The Board and the Executive Team are set out 
on page 31. Biographies of Board members 
are on page 33 and show that they are drawn 
from a wide background bringing together 
professional and commercial experience. The 
Executive officers hold no interest in Moat’s 
shares and act as executives within the 
authority delegated by the Board.

UK Corporate Governance Code
The Board reviewed its practices against the 
UK Corporate Governance Code and ensured 
that it has applied the main principles of the 
Code and complied with its detailed provisions. 
The Governance section in the Strategic 
Report contains the required disclosures. 

Value for money (VfM)
The Board is responsible for ensuring 
compliance with the VfM standard. The Board 
has reviewed and approved the VfM section of 
the Strategic Report.

Transparency
Moat is committed to being open with its 
residents, stakeholders and the public as to 
how it spends its money and manages its 
business and publishes additional information 
on-line at moat.co.uk.

Going concern 
After making enquiries and reviewing the 
budget for 2019/2020 and the long-term 
financial plan, the Board has a reasonable 
expectation that the Group has adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future. For this reason, it 
continues to adopt the going concern basis in 
the financial statements.

Viability statement 
As required by the provisions of the UK 
Corporate Governance Code, the Board 
has undertaken an assessment of the future 
prospects of Moat taking account of its current 
position and principal risks. This assessment 
was made using Moat’s core business 
processes, including the following:

Long Term Plan (LTP) – the Board reviews the 
LTP each year as part of its strategic review 
process. The LTP process includes detailed 
stress testing which involves flexing a number 
of the main assumptions underlying the 
forecast both individually and together under 
particular scenarios.

Risk management – as set out in the Risk 
section of the Strategic Report, Moat has a 
structured approach to the management of risk 
and the principal risks identified are reviewed 
regularly by Board.

Liquidity – based on the output of the LTP and 
regular re-forecasting of cash flows the Board 
regularly reviews an analysis looking at the 
forecast working capital requirements, cash 
flow, committed borrowing and other facilities 
available to Moat.

In undertaking this review a period of three 
years has been selected. For the initial year of 
this three year period there is a greater level of 
certainty because detailed annual budgets are 
prepared and regularly re-forecast. Quarterly 
cash flow forecasts are reviewed by the Board 
covering a rolling three year period, and 
are used to ensure sufficient facilities are in 
place. The largest single area of spend is the 
development programme and the bulk of the 
committed development programme completes 
within a two year timeframe. Whilst development 
spend and required facilities are planned over a 
longer term than three years, the period chosen 
ensures that Moat is viable beyond its usual 
development commitment timeframe.

On the basis of this and other matters 
considered and reviewed by the Board 
during the year, the Board has reasonable 
expectations that Moat will be able to continue 
in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall 
due over the three year period used for the 
assessment.

Employees
The skills, expertise and goodwill of our 
employees are central to Moat’s continued 
success and Moat respects and values 
everyone’s contribution.

Moat places considerable value on the 
involvement of its employees. An Employee 
Forum, where employee representatives are 
consulted on a range of matters affecting their 
current and future interests, meets regularly 
and minutes of meetings are published to all 
employees. Regular communication with all 
employees takes place through publications 
like 'Moat in Brief' and information is 
disseminated through meetings for all senior 
managers. All employees have regular one-to-
one meetings with their manager and annual 
appraisals. Training programmes aim to equip 
employees with the skills they need to be 
successful in the future.

A particular focus on the development of 
employees continues to be on promoting 
diversity, succession planning and opportunity 
to ensure that Moat is a great place to work 
for all.

Slavery and human trafficking 
Moat is fully committed to combatting 
slavery and human trafficking. As part of its 
ongoing review to identify and mitigate risks,  
it has implemented and enforces, effective 
systems and controls. Moat’s Modern Slavery 
Statement can be found on-line at moat.co.uk

Health and safety
The Board is aware of its responsibilities on all 
matters relating to health and safety. Moat has 
prepared detailed health and safety policies 
and provided staff training and education on 
health and safety matters. 

Anti-Fraud and Anti-Bribery 
Statement
The Board has a policy on anti-fraud and 
anti-bribery covering the prevention, detection, 
and elimination of fraud, bribery, corruption, 
and dishonesty in all of Moat’s activities. Moat 
expects its business partners to adopt a similar 
approach and makes this a condition when 
entering into new contracts. 

A register is maintained of any reported frauds 
or potential frauds which is reviewed by the 
Audit Committee at every meeting, see Report 
of the Audit Committee.

Directors’ report
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Statement of confirmation
The Board confirms that it considers that the 
Strategic Report and financial statements, 
taken as a whole, are fair, balanced and 
understandable and provides the information 
necessary for members to assess Moat’s 
performance, business model and strategy.

Statements of compliance
The Board confirms that the Strategic Report 
follows the principles set out in the Statement 
of Recommended Practice, Accounting by 
Registered Social Housing Providers Update 
2014 (SORP). 
The Board confirms its compliance with the 
Regulator of Social Housing’s Governance and 
Financial Viability Standard.

Internal controls
The Board has overall responsibility for 
establishing and maintaining the whole system 
of internal control for Moat, and for reviewing 
its effectiveness and management of fraud. 
The Board’s responsibility extends over matters 
covering strategic, operational, financial, and 
compliance issues including treasury strategy 
and large new investment projects.

The Board recognises that no system of 
internal control can provide absolute assurance 
or eliminate all risk. The system of internal 
control is designed to manage, rather than 
eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business 
objectives; and to provide reasonable, but 
not absolute, assurance against material 
misstatement or loss. It also exists to give 
reasonable assurance about the preparation 
and reliability of financial information and the 
safeguarding of Moat’s assets and interests.

In meeting its responsibilities, the Board has 
adopted a risk-based approach to internal 
controls, which are embedded within the 
normal management and governance process. 
This approach includes the regular evaluation 
of the nature and extent of risks to which Moat 
is exposed.

The Board has a current strategy and policy 
on fraud covering prevention, detection and 
reporting of fraud and the recovery of assets. 
A separate fraud response plan and a whistle-
blowing policy are also in place.

Control procedures
The Board has adopted and disseminated to all 
employees a Code of Conduct for Employees. 
This sets out Moat’s requirements around the 
integrity and ethics of its employees. The Code 
is supported by a framework of policies and 

procedures which cover fraud prevention and 
detection, health and safety, data and asset 
protection, financial delegated authorities, 
segregation of duties, accounting, and treasury 
management. 

Internal controls assurance
Board meetings are held regularly and there 
is a defined schedule of matters reserved for 
decision by the Board. The process adopted 
by the Board in reviewing the effectiveness 
of the systems of internal control, together 
with some of the key elements of the control 
framework, includes:

Identification and evaluation of key risks
Management responsibility has been clearly 
defined for the identification, evaluation and 
control of significant risks. There is a formal 
and on-going process of management review 
in each area of Moat’s activities. This process 
is co-ordinated through a reporting framework 
to the Board. The Executive Team reviews 
the identified strategic risks facing Moat every 
month and is responsible for reporting to 
the Board any significant changes affecting 
key strategic risk areas as well as emerging 
strategic risks.

Monitoring and corrective action
A process of control, self-assessment, and 
regular management reporting on control 
issues provides hierarchical assurance to 
management and to the Board. This includes a 
rigorous procedure for ensuring that corrective 
action is taken in relation to any significant 
control issues, particularly those that may have 
a material impact on the financial statements 
and effective delivery of services.

Information and financial reporting systems
The Board approves a long term financial 
plan and budget in each financial year. 
Financial reporting procedures include monthly 
management accounts and forecasts for the 
remainder of the financial year. Management 
accounts are reviewed at every Finance 
Committee meeting and the Board receives a 
comprehensive performance report measuring 
progress towards key business objectives, 
targets, and outcomes.

The Board has conducted its annual review 
of the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control, and has taken account of any changes 
needed to maintain the effectiveness of the risk 
management and control process.

The Board continues to believe that 
outsourced provision of the internal audit 
function best supports an independent and 
detailed review of key procedures and controls 
across the business.

Statement of responsibilities 
of the Board

The Board is responsible for preparing the 
Directors’ Report and the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and 
regulations. 

Co-operative and Community Benefit Society 
law requires the Board to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year. Under those 
regulations the Board has elected to prepare 
the financial statements in accordance with UK 
Accounting Standards, including FRS 102 The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the 
UK and Republic of Ireland. The Board must 
not approve the financial statements unless it is 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the Group and the Association 
and of the surplus or deficit for that year. 

In preparing these financial statements, the 
Board is required to: 

select suitable accounting policies and 
apply them consistently
make judgements and accounting 
estimates that are reasonable and prudent
state whether applicable UK Accounting 
Standards and the Statement of 
Recommended Practice have been 
followed, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the financial 
statements, and 
prepare the financial statements on 
the going concern basis, unless it is 
inappropriate to presume that Moat will 
continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping 
proper books of account that disclose at any 
time the financial position of the Group and 
the Association and enable them to ensure 
that the financial statements comply with the 
Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies 
Act 2014, the Housing and Regeneration Act 
2008, and the Accounting Direction for Private 
Registered Providers of Social Housing 2019. 
They have general responsibility for taking 
such steps as are reasonably open to them 
to safeguard the assets of the Group and the 
Association and to prevent and detect fraud 
and other irregularities. 

The directors are responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of the corporate 
and financial information included on Moat’s 
website. Legislation in the UK governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other 
jurisdictions.
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Annual general meeting
The annual general meeting will be held in 
September 2019. 

Disclosure of information to auditor
The Board members who held office at the 
date of approval of this Directors’ Report 
confirm that, so far as they are each aware, 
there is no relevant audit information of which 
our auditor are unaware and each Board 
member has taken all the steps that they 
ought to have taken as a Board member to 
make themselves aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that our auditor 
are aware of that information. 

Auditor
A resolution to reappoint BDO LLP as external 
auditor shall be proposed at the annual general 
meeting.

Approved by the Board and signed on its 
behalf by:

Steve White
Chair

25 July 2019

Directors’ report
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Independent 
Auditor’s report

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements 
of Moat Homes Limited ('the Association') 
and its subsidiaries ('the Group') for the year 
ended 31 March 2019 which comprise the 
consolidated and Association statement of 
comprehensive income, the consolidated and 
Association statement of financial position, 
the consolidated and Association statement 
of changes in equity, the consolidated 
statement of cash flows and notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied in 
their preparation is applicable law and United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards, including 
Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice).
In our opinion, the financial statements:

give a true and fair view of the state of the 
Group’s and of the Association’s affairs as 
at 31 March 2019 and of the Group’s and 
the Association’s surplus for the year then 
ended;
have been properly prepared in accordance 
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice; and
have been properly prepared in accordance 
with the Co-operative and Community 
Benefit Societies Act 2014, the Co-
operative and Community Benefit Societies 
(Group Accounts) Regulations 1969, the 
Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 
and the Accounting Direction for Private 
Registered Providers of Social Housing 
2019.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK) ('ISAs 
(UK)') and applicable law. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in 
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements section of our report. We 
are independent of the Group and Association 
in accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial 

statements in the UK, including the FRC’s 
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to principal risks, 
going concern and viability statement
We have nothing to report in respect of the 
following information in the annual report, 
in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us 
to report to you whether we have anything 
material to add or draw attention to:

the disclosures in the annual report set out 
on page 24 that describe the principal risks 
and explain how they are being managed or 
mitigated;
the directors’ confirmation set out on 
page 37 in the annual report that they 
have carried out a robust assessment of 
the principal risks facing the Association, 
including those that would threaten its 
business model, future performance, 
solvency or liquidity;
the directors’ statement set out on page 
36 in the financial statements about 
whether the directors considered it 
appropriate to adopt the going concern 
basis of accounting in preparing the 
financial statements and the directors’ 
identification of any material uncertainties 
to the Association’s ability to continue to do 
so over a period of at least twelve months 
from the date of approval of the financial 
statements; or
the directors’ explanation set out on 
page 36 in the annual report as to how 
they have assessed the prospects of the 
Association, over what period they have 
done so and why they consider that period 
to be appropriate, and their statement as to 
whether they have a reasonable expectation 
that the Association will be able to continue 
in operation and meet its liabilities as they 
fall due over the period of their assessment, 
including any related disclosures drawing 
attention to any necessary qualifications or 
assumptions.

Independent Auditor’s 
report to the members 
of Moat Homes Limited
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Independent Auditor’s report

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in 
our professional judgement, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the current period and include 
the most significant assessed risks of material 
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) 
we identified, including those which had the 
greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, 
the allocation of resources in the audit; and 
directing the efforts of the engagement team. 
These matters were addressed in the context 
of our audit of the financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 
we do not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters.

Net realisable value of properties 
developed for sale
As detailed in note 18 to the financial 
statements, the Group has £9.1m of 
completed properties held for sale and £71.4m 
of under construction properties held for sale. 

Properties under construction are required 
to be carried at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. Management has performed 
an assessment of their realisable value using 
the support of external valuations, along 
with a consideration of costs to date against 
forecasts and estimates of costs to complete.

For all completed properties, management 
has performed an assessment of their 
realisable value by comparing the sales price of 
properties sold during the year and subsequent 
to the end of the financial year against forecast.  

As a result of these assessments, management 
has recognised a write down of £1.9m relating 
to properties held for sale where the carrying 
value is expected to exceed estimated sales 
price less costs to complete and sell.

Due to the level of judgement involved in 
estimating both sales proceeds and costs 
to complete we consider the recognition of 
properties developed for sale at the lower 
of cost and net realisable value to be a key 
judgement and a risk for the audit.

Our response to the key audit matter
Having obtained management’s assessment of 
the net realisable value of properties developed 
for sale, we tested this on a sample basis.

Our samples were chosen from the populations 
of items that represented both developments 
under construction as well as completed 
developments at year-end. For developments 
under construction our sample was determined 
by the value of costs incurred to date for each 
scheme and their anticipated gross profit 
margin. Schemes with an anticipated gross 
profit margin of less than 15% were tested. 

For a sample of completed properties we 
agreed the amounts involved to supporting 
documentation where the property was sold 
post year-end. Where the property was not yet 
sold we obtained third-party housing market 
information to confirm that properties were held 
at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

For a sample of properties under development 
we obtained details of the expected costs 
to complete from the scheme budget for 
that development and agreed the budgeted 
contracted cost of the development to the 
latest contract documentation. We examined 
supporting documentation for anticipated 
sales proceeds and we compared the incurred 
expenditure to the balance sheet date to the 
estimated amount at that date. 

We also assessed the accuracy of cost 
forecasting by looking at outturn costs 
compared to budget on a sample of schemes 
that completed in the year. 

Sensitivity analysis was performed to 
determine the point at which a rise in costs 
to complete would result in a material 
misstatement with consideration of the 
possibility of this outcome occurring, based 
solely on current factors including the status 
of its construction, contractual arrangements 
and testing undertaken to validate the 
accuracy of costs to complete.

In assessing the accuracy of the £1.9m 
write down, for the sample of schemes 
management’s assessment was agreed to 
supporting documentation including third 
party property valuations and third party cost 
to complete estimates.

Key observations
Our work identified no misstatements or 
inappropriate application of judgement 
or estimation, including management’s 
assessment of a £1.9m write down at 
the balance sheet date. Based on our 
procedures we noted no exceptions and 
found management’s key assumptions to be 
reasonable.

Recognition and measurement 
of liabilities related to the Social 
Housing Pension Scheme and related 
presentation and disclosure
As disclosed in note 30 and in the accounting 
policies a method for the determination of 
sufficient information for full defined benefit 
accounting has been determined and 
information to facilitate inclusion of the share of 
assets and liabilities on the balance sheet has 
been provided to the Group. The policy and 
note explain the accounting treatment applied 
in respect of:

De-recognising the previously recognised 
SHPS deficit reduction liability
Recognising the Association’s share of the 
assets and liabilities of SHPS
The value of the assets and liabilities 
recognised
The effect on the opening and closing 
balances.

This was a key audit matter because of the 
effect of this adjustment on the financial 
statements, including disclosures, the level 
of judgement and estimation involved in 
the determination of amounts to recognise, 
the timeliness of the provision of relevant 
information and level of audit attention given to 
these changes.

Our response to the key audit matter
Our specific audit testing in this regard 
included:

A determination of whether the accounting 
entries had been made in accordance with 
the requirements of the revised FRS 102. 
Our work included specific consideration of 
the related disclosures. We assessed the 
following against the requirements of the 
standard in this respect:

The updated SHPS-related accounting 
policies
The disclosure concerning the early 
adoption of new requirements
The reporting of key judgements and 
estimates and 
The discussion of the accounting 
implications of the change of approach 
to calculation of the SHPS liability within 
the pension note.

Securing appropriate audit evidence in 
respect of SHPS-related accounting entries 
and disclosures from a number of key 
sources including:

The Scheme Trustee
Control assurance providers
An auditor’s pension and actuarial 
expert.

Our work in respect of each involved 
assessing suitability of work derived from 
other sources as audit evidence and 
covered both the opening and year-end 
positions.
Performing testing, on a sample basis, of 
certain inputs to the SHPS tool which were 
derived from the Association’s records 
and considered the appropriateness of 
assumptions used in calculating the outputs 
at each of the relevant dates.
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Key observations
Our work identified no factual misstatements 
or inappropriate application of judgement 
or estimation and we have concluded that 
relevant information has been appropriately 
reported taking account of reasonable 
assumptions.

Our application of materiality
We apply the concept of materiality both in 
planning and performing our audit, and in 
evaluating the effect of misstatements. We 
consider materiality to be the magnitude by 
which misstatements, including omissions, 
could influence the economic decisions of 
reasonable users that are taken on the basis 
of the financial statements. Importantly, 
misstatements below these levels will not 
necessarily be evaluated as immaterial as 
we also take into account the nature of 
identified misstatements, and the particular 
circumstances of their occurrence, when 
evaluating their effect on the financial 
statements as a whole.

We determined materiality for the financial 
statements as a whole to be £28.0m (2018 - 
£27.1m), which approximates to 1.8% (2018 
– 1.8%) of total assets, with specific materiality 
of £2.8m (2018 – £3.2m), which approximates 
to 5.0% (2018 – 4.5%) of adjusted operating 
surplus. We consider total assets to be a 
key indicator for members of the Group and 
Association in assessing the financial position 
of the Group and Association, with adjusted 
operating surplus relevant where members 
are assessing the operating performance 
of the Group and Association. Adjusted 
operating surplus is calculated by adding back 
depreciation and impairment and deducting 
opening market sales to/from operating 
surplus. 

Performance materiality is the application 
of materiality at the individual account or 
balance level set at an amount to reduce to 
an appropriately low level the probability that 
the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected 
misstatements exceeds materiality for the 
financial statements as a whole. 

Performance materiality was set at 71% (2018 
– 71%) of materiality or specific materiality 
depending on the financial statement 
area being audited. In setting the level of 
performance materiality we considered a 
number of factors including the expected 
total value of known and likely misstatements 
(based on past experience and other factors) 
and management’s attitude towards proposed 
adjustments.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we 
would report to the Committee all individual 
audit differences in excess of £50,000 with 
separate thresholds for components. We 
also agreed to report differences below this 
threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting 
on qualitative grounds.

Materiality for the Association was set at 
£25.0m (2018 - £24.4m) with a specific 
materiality set at £2.5m (2018 - £2.9m).

An overview of the scope of our audit
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure 
that we performed enough work to be able to 
give an opinion on the financial statements as 
a whole, taking into account the geographic 
structure of the Group, the accounting 
processes and controls, and the industry in 
which the Group operates. 

In establishing the overall approach to 
the Group audit, we assessed the audit 
significance of each reporting component in 
the Group by reference to both its financial 
significance and other indicators of audit risk, 
such as the complexity of operations and the 
degree of estimation and judgement in the 
financial results. 

Extent to which the audit is capable of 
detecting irregularities
The extent to which the audit is capable 
of detecting irregularities is affected by the 
inherent difficulty in detecting irregularities, 
the effectiveness of the entity’s controls, and 
the nature, timing and extent of the audit 
procedures performed. Irregularities that result 
from fraud might be inherently more difficult to 
detect than irregularities that result from error.

As part of the audit we gained an 
understanding of the legal and regulatory 
framework applicable to the Group and 
the industry in which it operates, and 
considered the risk of acts by the Group 
that were contrary to applicable laws and 
regulations, including fraud.  We considered 
the Association’s compliance with laws and 
regulations that have a direct impact on the 
financial statements such as the Co-operative 
and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 
(and related Directions and regulations), 
the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 
and other laws and regulations applicable 
to a registered social housing provider in 
England. We also considered the risks of 
non-compliance with the other requirements 
imposed by the Regulator of Social Housing, 
and we considered the extent to which non-
compliance might have a material effect on the 
Group financial statements.

We designed audit procedures at Group and 
significant component level to respond to the 
risk, recognising that the risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement due to fraud is higher 
than the risk of not detecting one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve deliberate 
concealment by, for example, forgery or 
intentional misrepresentations, or through 
collusion. 

Our tests included agreeing the financial 
statement disclosures to underlying supporting 
documentation, enquiries of the Board 
and of management and enquiries of third 
parties, where information from that third 
party has been used by the Association in the 
preparation of the financial statements. 

There are inherent limitations in the audit 
procedures described above and, the further 
removed non-compliance with laws and 
regulations is from the events and transactions 
reflected in the financial statements, the less 
likely we would become aware of it. We did 
not identify any key audit matters relating 
to irregularities, including fraud. As in all of 
our audits, we also addressed the risk of 
management override of internal controls, 
including testing journals and evaluating 
whether there was evidence of bias by the 
Board that represented a risk of material 
misstatement due to fraud.

Classification of components
A full scope statutory audit was carried out for 
each subsidiary that we considered to be a 
significant component of the group.  

Audit work on all components was performed 
by BDO UK both for the purposes of reporting 
on the individual financial statements and 
for group/consolidation purposes. Individual 
component audits were carried out using 
component materialities of between 0-90% of 
overall financial statement materiality.  

Other information
The Board is responsible for the other 
information. Other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report, 
other than the financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the 
financial statements does not cover the other 
information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information including the Chair’s 
Statement and the Strategic Report and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with 
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the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If we identify such 
material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether there is a material misstatement in the 
financial statements or a material misstatement 
in the other information. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other 
information we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

In this context, we also have nothing to report 
in relation to our responsibility to specifically 
address the following items in the other 
information. We would be required to report, 
as uncorrected material misstatements of the 
other information, where we conclude that 
those items meet the following conditions:

Fair, balanced and understandable set 
out on page 37 – the statement given by 
the board that they consider the annual 
report and financial statements taken as a 
whole is fair, balanced and understandable 
and provides the information necessary 
for members to assess the Association’s 
performance, business model and 
strategy, is materially inconsistent with our 
knowledge obtained in the audit; or
Audit committee reporting set out on 
pages 27 and 29 - the section describing 
the work of the audit committee does 
not appropriately address matters 
communicated by us to the audit 
committee; and
Directors’ statement of compliance with 
the UK Corporate Governance Code set 
out on page 36 - the parts of the directors’ 
statement relating to the company’s 
compliance with the UK Corporate 
Governance Code do not properly disclose 
a departure from a relevant provision of the 
UK Corporate Governance Code.

Matters on which we are required 
to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the 
following matters where we are required by the 
Co-operative or Community Benefit Societies 
Act 2014 or the Housing and Regeneration Act 
2008 to report to you if, in our opinion:

the information given in the Report of the 
Board for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is not 
consistent with the financial statements;
adequate accounting records have not 
been kept by the parent Association; or
a satisfactory system of control has not 
been maintained over transactions; or

the parent Association financial statements 
are not in agreement with the accounting 
records and returns; or
we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of the Board
As explained more fully in the statement of 
responsibilities of the Board, the Board is 
responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view, and for such internal 
control as the Board members determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board 
are responsible for assessing the Group and 
the Association’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the Board 
either intend to liquidate the Group or the 
Association or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
(UK) will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for 
the audit of the financial statements is located 
on the Financial Reporting Council’s website 
at: frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This 
description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Other matters 
Following the recommendation of the Audit 
Committee, we were appointed by the Board 
on 20 January 2017 to audit the financial 
statements for the year ending 31 March 2017 
and subsequent financial periods. The period 
of total uninterrupted engagement is three 
years, covering the years ending 31 March 
2017 to 31 March 2019.

The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s 
Ethical Standard were not provided to the 
Group or the parent Association and we remain 
independent of the Group and the parent 
Association in conducting our audit.

Our audit opinion is consistent with the 
additional report to the Audit Committee.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the members 
of the Association, as a body, in accordance 
with the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 
and the Co-operative and Community Benefit 
Societies Act 2014. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the 
Association’s members those matters we 
are required to state to them in an auditor’s 
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than 
the Association and the members as a body, 
for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed.

Philip Cliftlands 
Senior Statutory Auditor

For and on behalf of BDO LLP London

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership 
registered in England and Wales (with 

registered number OC305127).

29 July 2019
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Notes 2018

£000 £000

Turnover 3 130,422 124,343

Operating costs 3 (68,432) (61,922)

Cost of sales 3 (24,338) (19,987)

Gain on disposal of fixed assets (staircasings and redemptions) 3 14,268 12,476

Operating surplus 3 51,920 54,910

Gain on disposal of fixed assets 4 2,879 20,142

Gain on disposal of investments 5 - 1

Interest receivable 8 191 78

Interest and finance costs 9/10 (18,640) (17,858)

Movement in fair value of investments 16 15 9

Movement in fair value of financial instruments 27 (37) 7,278

Surplus before taxation 11 36,328 64,560

Taxation 12 - (56)

Surplus for the year 36,328 64,504

Movement in fair value of hedged financial instruments 27 (3,771) 1,346

Remeasurement of pension liability 30 (7,212) 301

Total comprehensive income for the year 25,345 66,151

All amounts relate to continuing activities. 
Movements in reserves are shown in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.  

Consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 March 2019

2019 2018

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Financial statements
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Notes 2018

£000 £000

Turnover 3 130,388 124,298

Operating costs 3 (68,373) (61,815)

Cost of sales 3 (24,338) (19,987)

Gain on disposal of fixed assets (staircasings and redemptions) 3 14,259 12,459

Operating surplus 3 51,936 54,955

Gain on disposal of fixed assets 4 2,879 20,142

Interest receivable 8 873 84

Interest and finance costs 9/10 (18,577) (17,870)

Movement in fair value of investments 16 15 9

Movement in fair value of financial instruments 27 (37) 7,278

Surplus before taxation 11 37,089 64,598

Taxation 12 - -

Surplus for the year 37,089 64,598

Movement in fair value of hedged financial instruments 27 (3,771) 1,346

Remeasurement of pension liability 30 (7,212) 301

Total comprehensive income for the year 26,106 66,245

All amounts relate to continuing activities. 
Movements in reserves are shown in the statement of changes in equity.  

Association statement 
of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 March 2019

2019 2018

Association statement of comprehensive income
Financial statements
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Notes 2018

£000 £000

Fixed assets

Housing properties 14 1,421,490 1,324,568

Investment properties 16 482 467

Other tangible fixed assets 17 13,942 13,060

Homebuy loans receivable 50,109 55,413

1,486,023 1,393,508

Current assets

Housing stock for sale 18 80,522 55,895

Debtors 19 11,240 22,831

Cash and cash equivalents 20,387 32,220

112,149 110,946

Creditors - amounts falling due within one year 20 (77,277) (41,865)

Net current assets 34,872 69,081

Total assets less current liabilities 1,520,895 1,462,589

Creditors - amounts falling due after more than one year 21 (1,027,911) (1,011,791)

Derivative financial instruments 27 (68,406) (64,598)

Provision for liabilities - pensions 30 (14,417) (1,384)

Net assets 410,161 384,816

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 29 - -

Reserves - Revenue reserve 468,474 439,358

                 - Cash flow hedge reserve (58,313) (54,542)

Total reserves 410,161 384,816

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 25 July 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

Consolidated statement 
of financial position
As at 31 March 2019

Steve White                                                                                                 
Chair                                                                                                                     

Gerard McCormack
Board Member

Greg Taylor
Secretary

2019 2018

Consolidated statement of financial position
Financial statements
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Notes 2018

£000 £000

Fixed assets

Housing properties 14 1,421,057 1,324,129

Investment in subsidiaries 15 50 50

Investment properties 16 482 467

Other tangible fixed assets 17 13,942 13,060

Homebuy loans receivable 50,059 55,337

1,485,590 1,393,043

Current assets

Housing stock for sale 18 46,314 39,581

Debtors 19 29,529 25,328

Cash and cash equivalents 20,103 32,031

95,946 96,940

Creditors - amounts falling due within one year 20 (73,923) (41,437)

Net current assets 22,023 55,503

Total assets less current liabilities 1,507,613 1,448,546

Creditors - amounts falling due after more than one year 21 (1,027,803) (1,011,683)

Derivative financial instruments 27 (68,406) (64,598)

Provision for liabilities - pensions 30 (14,417) (1,384)

Net assets 396,987 370,881

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 29 - -

Reserves - Revenue reserve 455,300 425,423

                 - Cash flow hedge reserve (58,313) (54,542)

Total reserves 396,987 370,881

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 25 July 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

Association statement 
of financial position
As at 31 March 2019

Steve White                                                                                                 
Chair                                                                                                                     

Gerard McCormack
Board Member

Greg Taylor
Secretary

2019 2018

Association statement of financial position
Financial statements
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Revenue 
reserve

Cash flow 
hedge reserve

Total
reserves

Consolidated £000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 April 2017 374,553 (55,888) 318,665

Surplus for the year 64,504 - 64,504

Movement in fair value of hedged financial instruments - 1,346 1,346

Remeasurement of pension liability 301 - 301

Balance at 1 April 2018 439,358 (54,542) 384,816

Surplus for the year 36,328 - 36,328

Movement in fair value of hedged financial instruments - (3,771) (3,771)

Remeasurement of pension liability (7,212) - (7,212)

Balance at 31 March 2019 468,474 (58,313) 410,161

Revenue 
reserve

Cash flow 
hedge reserve

Total
reserves

Association £000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 April 2017 360,524 (55,888) 304,636

Surplus for the year 64,598 - 64,598

Movement in fair value of hedged financial instruments - 1,346 1,346

Remeasurement of pension liability 301 - 301

Balance at 1 April 2018 425,423 (54,542) 370,881

Surplus for the year 37,089 - 37,089

Movement in fair value of hedged financial instruments - (3,771) (3,771)

Remeasurement of pension liability (7,212) - (7,212)

Balance at 31 March 2019 455,300 (58,313) 396,987

Statement of
changes in equity
As at 31 March 2019

Statement of changes in equity
Financial statements
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2018

£000 £000

Net cash generated from operating activities (note 32) 32,282 33,765

Cash flow from investing activities:

Purchase of housing properties (112,661) (100,324)

Purchase of other fixed assets (2,676) (1,424)

Proceeds from sale of tangible fixed assets 32,026 58,472

Proceeds from sale of investments - 602

Grants received - 1,305

Homebuy loans repaid 859 775

Interest received 191 78

Net cash outflow from investing activities (82,261) (40,516)

Cash flow from financing activities:

Interest paid (21,733) (20,284)

Interest element of finance lease rental payment (42) (48)

Cash collateral returned 3,660 2,550

New secured loans 2,571 -

Drawdown of revolving credit facility 72,666 30,096

Repayment of borrowings (18,955) (875)

Net cash inflow from financing activities 38,167 11,439

Taxation (paid)/received (21) 324

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (11,833) 5,012

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 32,220 27,208

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 20,387 32,220

Consolidated statement 
of cash flows
For the year ended 31 March 2019

2019 2018

Consolidated statement of cash flows
Financial statements
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1. Principal accounting policies 

Basis of preparation

MHL is a public benefit entity. The financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance 
with applicable United Kingdom accounting 
standards, including ‘Financial Reporting 
Standard 102 – The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and 
Republic of Ireland’ (FRS 102), the Accounting 
Direction for Private Registered Providers of 
Social Housing April 2019 and the Statement 
of Recommended Practice for registered social 
housing providers 2014 (SORP), published by 
the National Housing Federation. The financial 
statements have been prepared on the historic 
cost basis except for modification to a fair 
value basis for certain financial instruments 
and investment properties as specified in the 
accounting policies below.

The financial statements are presented in 
pounds Sterling (£000s).

Basis of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements of MHL 
incorporate the financial statements of its 
subsidiaries - Moat Housing Group Limited, 
Moat Development Limited, Mariner Facilities 
Management Limited, Moat Foundation, Moat 
Homes Finance Plc and Moat Construction 
Services Limited.

Intercompany transactions and balances 
between group companies are eliminated in full.

Disclosure exemptions 
In preparing the group financial statements, 
advantage has been taken of the exemption 
not to disclose transactions, eliminated on 
consolidation, with wholly owned group 
undertakings.

In preparing the separate financial statements 
of the parent company, advantage has been 
taken of the exemption available in FRS102 
not to present a statement of cash flows and 
related notes.

Going concern 
After reviewing the financial plan and the 
viability assessment and making enquiries, the 
Board has a reasonable expectation that the 
Group has adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future. For this reason, the going concern basis 
continues to be used in the financial statements.

Housing properties
Housing properties are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Cost includes the cost of 
acquiring land and buildings, interest capitalised 
during the development period, directly 
attributable development and administration 
costs, and expenditure incurred in respect of 
improvements which modernise and extend the 
life of existing properties. 

Housing properties for rent are split between 
land, structure and major components with a 
substantially different economic life.

Shared ownership property costs are split 
between current and fixed assets on the basis of 
the first tranche portion. The first tranche portion 
is accounted for as a current asset. The fixed 
asset portion is split between land and structure 
as the rights and obligations towards improving 
the property reside with the shared owner. 

Housing properties in the course of construction 
are stated at cost and are not depreciated. They 
are transferred to completed properties when 
they are ready for letting or sale. 

Gains and losses on disposal of housing property 
fixed assets are determined by comparing the 
proceeds with the carrying amount and incidental 
costs of sale. Gains/losses on staircasings 
and redemptions are recognised in operating 
surplus. Gains on stock rationalisation disposals 
are shown within gain/loss on disposal of fixed 
assets below operating surplus. 

Housing properties - depreciation
Depreciation is charged on a straight line basis 
over the expected economic useful lives of each 
component part of housing properties. Land is 
not depreciated. The estimated useful lives are 
as follows:

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual 
values are reviewed if there is an indication of a 
significant change since the last reporting date 

Structure

Kitchens

Bathrooms

Windows

Heating

Roofs

Doors

Electrical wiring

100 years

20 years

30 years

30 years

15 years

50 years

20 years

40 years

in the pattern by which the Group expects to 
consume an asset’s future economic benefits.

Non component works to existing properties
Expenditure incurred on existing housing 
properties is capitalised if it provides an 
incremental future benefit, including an increase 
in the rental income over the life of the property, 
a reduction in future maintenance costs, or a 
significant extension to the life of the property. 
Expenditure incurred on major repairs, cyclical 
and day-to-day repairs to housing properties 
is charged to operating expenditure in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income in the year in which it is incurred.

Interest capitalised
Interest on borrowings is capitalised to housing 
properties during the course of construction 
up to the date of completion of each scheme. 
The interest capitalised is either on borrowings 
specifically financing a scheme or on net 
borrowings to the extent that they are deemed 
to be financing a scheme. This treatment 
applies irrespective of the original purpose for 
which the loan was raised. Interest is capitalised 
at the weighted average effective interest rate 
on the Group’s borrowings.

Other tangible fixed assets
Other tangible fixed assets are stated at cost 
less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation 
is charged on a straight line basis over the 
expected economic useful lives of the asset. No 
depreciation is provided on freehold land. The 
estimated useful lives are as follows:

Leases
Leases in which the Group assumes 
substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the leased asset are classified as 
finance leases. All other leases are classified 
as operating leases. Assets acquired by way 
of finance leases are capitalised as tangible 
fixed assets at their fair value (or, if lower, the 
present value of the minimum lease payments 
as determined at inception of the lease), and are 
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term 
and useful life. The capital elements of future 

Office buildings

Motor vehicles

Office equipment, fixtures and fittings

Computer equipment

Scheme furniture and equipment

50 years

3 years

5-10 years

3 years

3-40 years

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019
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lease obligations are recorded as liabilities, while 
the interest elements are charged to interest in 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income over the period of the leases to produce 
a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability.

Payments (excluding costs for servicing and 
insurance) made under operating leases are 
recognised in operating expenditure in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income on a straight line basis over the term 
of the lease unless the payments to the lessor 
are structured to increase in line with expected 
general inflation, when the payments are 
recognised as incurred. Lease incentives received 
are recognised over the term of the lease as an 
integral part of the total lease expense.                               

Impairment of fixed assets 
(excluding investments)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s fixed 
assets (excluding investments) are reviewed 
at each reporting date to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment. If any such 
indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable 
amount is estimated. The recoverable amount 
of an asset or cash-generating unit is the 
greater of its value in use and its fair value less 
costs to sell. For the purpose of impairment 
testing, assets are grouped into the smallest 
group of assets that generates cash flows from 
continuing use. 

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount 
by which the asset’s carrying value exceeds its 
estimated recoverable amount and is recognised 
in operating expenditure in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

An impairment loss is reversed if and only if the 
reasons for the impairment have ceased to apply.

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods 
are assessed at each reporting date for 
indications that the loss has decreased or no 
longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed 
only to the extent that the asset’s carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation and amortisation, if no impairment 
loss had been recognised.

Social Housing Grant (SHG) 
SHG is recognised as deferred grant income 
and released as turnover in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income over the 
life of the structure of housing properties in 
accordance with the accrual model. Grants 

relating to expenditure on tangible fixed assets 
are credited to turnover at the same rate as the 
depreciation on the assets to which the grant 
relates. The deferred element of the grants is 
included in creditors as deferred income.

On disposal of properties, all associated SHG is 
transferred to either the Recycled capital grant 
fund (RCGF) or Disposal proceeds fund (DPF) 
until the grant is recycled or repaid to reflect 
the existing obligation under the social housing 
grant funding regime.

Investments in Homebuy
Under the Homebuy scheme, the Group 
receives Homebuy grant representing a 
percentage of the open market purchase price 
of a property in order to advance interest free 
loans to a homebuyer. The loans advanced by 
the Group meet the definition of concessionary 
loans and are shown as fixed asset investments 
in the consolidated statement of financial 
position. The Homebuy grant provided by the 
government to fund all or part of a Homebuy 
loan is shown as deferred income in creditors 
due in more than one year.

In the event that the property is sold, the Group 
recovers the equivalent loaned percentage of 
the property at the time of the sale. The grant 
is reclassified to the recycled capital grant 
fund when the loans are redeemed up to the 
amount of the original grant and to the extent 
the proceeds permit. The Group retains any 
surplus proceeds less sale costs attributable to 
the equivalent loaned percentage share of the 
value of the property. If there is a fall in the value 
of the property the shortfall of proceeds is offset 
against the grant.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties which are 
held either to earn rental income or for capital 
appreciation or for both. Investment properties 
are not depreciated but are held at fair value. 
Changes in fair value are recognised in surplus 
for the year in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. Rental income from 
these properties is taken to turnover.

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are measured at 
cost less accumulated impairment.

Housing stock for sale
Completed properties and properties under 
construction for open market sales and the first 
tranche portion of shared ownership properties 

are recognised at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. Net realisable value is based 
on estimated sales price after allowing for all 
further costs of completion and disposal. At 
each reporting date, the housing stock for sale is 
assessed for any adjustment. If a write down is 
necessary the carrying amount is reduced to its 
selling price less costs to complete and sell. The 
loss is immediately recognised in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

Interest incurred on borrowings relating to the 
development of open market sale properties is 
expensed as it is due.

On disposal, sales proceeds are included in 
turnover and the cost of sales, including costs 
incurred in the development of the properties, 
marketing and other incidental costs, are included 
in operating expenses.

Mixed tenure developments
Where a mixed tenure development includes 
shared ownership or open market sales, the 
costs incurred in acquiring and developing the 
land attributed to each element of the scheme 
reflect the different tenure types. 

Future repair funds
Charges which are made to leaseholders 
for future major repairs such as replacement 
windows and roofs and the replacement of 
equipment within their estates are ring fenced 
for use on their properties/estates only. Such 
funds are disclosed in the statement of financial 
position as creditors.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised 
when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are 
classified according to the substance of the 
contractual arrangements entered into. An 
equity instrument is any contract that evidences 
a residual interest in the assets of the Group 
after deducting all of its liabilities.

Basic financial instruments

Debtors and creditors
Debtors and creditors with no stated interest 
rate receivable or payable within one year 
are recorded initially at transaction price less 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to 
initial recognition they are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method, less 
any impairment losses. Any losses arising from 

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019
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impairment are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income in operating costs.

Recoverable amount of rental and other 
trade receivables
The recoverable value of rental and other 
receivables is estimated and the debtor is 
impaired by appropriate amounts.

Interest-bearing borrowings classified as 
basic financial instruments
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised 
initially at fair value less attributable transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-
bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment losses.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 
balances and call deposits.

Other financial instruments (not considered 
to be basic financial instruments)

Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses certain financial instruments to 
reduce exposure to interest rate movements. 
The Group does not hold or issue derivative 
financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value 
at the date a derivative contract is entered into 
and are subsequently re-measured to their fair 
value at each reporting date. The resulting gain 
or loss is recognised in the surplus for the year 
immediately unless the derivative is designated 
and effective as a hedging instrument, see below.

Hedge accounting
The Group designates certain derivatives as 
hedging instruments in cash flow hedges.

The effective portion of changes in the fair 
value of derivatives that are designated and 
qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised 
in other comprehensive income. The gain 
or loss relating to the ineffective portion is 
recognised immediately in the surplus for the 
year. Amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to 
surplus for the year when the hedged item is 
recognised in surplus for the year or when the 
hedging relationship ends.

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets not carried at fair value are 
assessed for indicators of impairment at each 
reporting date. A financial asset is impaired if 
objective evidence indicates that a loss event 
has occurred after the initial recognition of the 
asset, and that the loss event had a negative 
effect on the estimated future cash flows of that 
asset that can be estimated reliably. Impairment 
losses are recognised in the surplus for the year.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, 
the amount of the impairment is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost less 
impairment, the impairment loss is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
best estimate of the amount that would be 
received for the asset if it were to be sold at the 
reporting date.

When a subsequent event causes the amount of 
the impairment loss to decrease, the decrease is 
reversed through the surplus for the year.

Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans
A defined contribution plan is a post-
employment benefit plan under which the 
Group pays fixed contributions into a separate 
entity and will have no legal or constructive 
obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations 
for contributions to defined contribution pension 
plans are shown as an operating expense in the 
surplus for the year during which services are 
rendered by employees. The Group participates 
in the Aviva defined contribution plan, closed to 
new members, and the Social Housing Pension 
Scheme (SHPS) defined contribution plan 
which is open to all new employees and current 
employees have the opportunity to switch into it.

Defined benefit plans
The Group participates in the multi-employer 
defined benefit Social Housing Pension Scheme 
(SHPS) operated by The Pensions Trust and is 
deemed to participate in the Growth Plan as an 
Additional Voluntary Contribution (AVC) Vehicle 
for members of the SHPS scheme. From 1 April 
2018 it is possible to identify the share of the 
underlying assets and liabilities belonging to 
individual participating employers on a consistent 
and reasonable basis. From that date the Group 

accounts for the scheme as if it were a defined 
benefit scheme. The reversal of the past service 
deficit funding liability and the introduction of 
the net defined benefit liability as at 1 April 2018 
are shown in other comprehensive income. The 
Growth Plan continues to be treated as a defined 
contribution scheme. The scheme is closed to 
new employees.

The Group participates in the defined benefit 
Essex County Council and London Borough of 
Merton pension schemes which are closed to 
new employees. 

The amounts charged to operating surplus are 
the costs arising from the employee services 
rendered during the period and the cost of plan 
introductions, benefit changes, settlements 
and curtailments. They are included as part 
of staff costs. The net interest cost on the net 
defined benefit liability is charged to surplus for 
the year and included within finance costs. Re-
measurement amounts of the net assets/defined 
liability are recognised in other comprehensive 
income. Defined benefit schemes are funded in 
separate trustee administered funds. Pension 
scheme assets are measured at fair value and 
liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis 
using the projected unit credit method. Actuarial 
valuations are obtained triennially and are 
updated at each reporting date.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised as an 
expense when the Group is demonstrably 
committed, without realistic possibility of 
withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to 
terminate employment. 

Provisions for liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the Group 
has a present legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of a past event that can be reliably 
measured and it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation. Provisions are recognised as the best 
estimate of the amount required to settle the 
obligation at the reporting date.

Annual leave
A provision is made for annual leave accrued 
by employees which they are entitled to carry 
forward and use by 31 December. The provision 
is measured at the salary cost payable for the 
period of absence.

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019
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Turnover
Turnover represents the following material income 
streams which are measured at the fair value of 
the consideration received or receivable:
• Rent and service charge income receivable 

(net of void losses), fees receivable, revenue 
grants from public authorities are all recognised 
on an accruals basis as they fall due.

• Proceeds from first tranche sales of low-
cost home ownership properties and from 
properties developed for open market sales are 
recognised on legal completion of the sale.

• Social Housing Grant (SHG) is amortised to 
turnover over the useful economic life of the 
property to which the grant relates.

Agency managed accommodation
Where the agency holds the support contract 
with the Supporting People Administering 
Authority and carries the financial risk, the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income includes only that income and 
expenditure which relates solely to the Group 
such as rental income in turnover and repairs in 
operating costs.

Taxation
Current tax is the expected tax payable or 
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the 
year, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the statement of financial position 
date, and any adjustment to tax payable in 
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on timing differences 
which arise from the inclusion of income and 
expenses in tax assessments in periods different 
from those in which they are recognised in the 
financial statements.

VAT
Moat Homes Limited, Moat Housing Group 
Limited, Mariner Facilities Management Limited 
and Moat Homes Finance Plc are registered as 
a VAT group.  A large proportion of the Group’s 
income comprises rental income, which is 
exempt for VAT purposes and gives rise to a 
partial exemption calculation. Expenditure is 
therefore shown inclusive of VAT. Recoverable 
VAT arising from partially exempt activities 
is credited to the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income.

Notes to the financial statements
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2. Critical accounting 
judgements and key sources  
of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting 
policies, described in note 1, the directors 
are required to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions about the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. The estimates 
and associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the year 
in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that year, or in the year of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods.

Critical judgements 

In preparing these financial statements, the key 
judgements have been made in respect of the 
following:

Impairment
As explained in note 1, a review of the carrying 
value of housing properties is carried out 
annually to determine whether there are any 
indicators of impairment. Indicators considered 
included indicators in paragraph 27.9 of FRS 
102 and paragraph 14.6 of Housing SORP 
2014. In the review, we have taken schemes 
to be cash-generating units as these represent 
groups of properties in the same location where 
the same services are provided. If a different 
level of cash generating unit had been used 
(e.g. individual properties within a particular 
scheme) the conclusion on impairment may 
have been different. Where there is evidence 
of impairment, fixed assets are written down 
to their recoverable amount. Impairment is 
assessed by comparing carrying value to the 
higher of value-in-use and fair value less costs 
to sell. If the carrying value is greater than the 
higher of value in use and fair value less costs to 
sell, an impairment provision is made. Value-in-
use requires management estimates of timing of 
cash flows, discount rate and life of the asset. 
Management use estimates to determine fair 

value less costs to sell based on information 
available regarding sales of similar properties 
and depreciated replacement cost.

• Rented properties
There were no general indicators of 
impairment on rented properties.

• Low cost home ownership properties
The need for an impairment review of the 
fixed asset portion of completed shared 
ownership properties is indicated if there 
have been losses on staircasings during 
the year. There were no material losses on 
staircasings during the year to indicate the 
need for impairment. 

• Schemes in development/land banked 
All development schemes are assessed 
using an investment appraisal model, 
which is reviewed annually by the Finance 
Committee, to ensure the appropriateness 
of assumptions. During development 
the schemes are reviewed against the 
investment appraisal for any fluctuations 
in costs or anticipated sales values which 
adversely affected the net present value 
of the scheme, highlighting any schemes 
which needed to be assessed 
for impairment.

We calculate the recoverable amount on 
these schemes as the higher of the fair 
value and the value- in-use. In line with 
Housing SORP 2014, in order to take 
into account the service potential of the 
scheme, we use depreciated replacement 
cost as a measure of value-in-use.

For shared ownership schemes where 
there was a write down in the net 
realisable value for the first tranche portion, 
we reviewed the potential impact on future 
staircasings. In most cases the impact of 
grant and no marketing costs indicated 
that there was no trigger for impairment. 
For a number of schemes we carried 
out an impairment review. For only one 
scheme was it found that the net book 
value was higher than the recoverable 
amount, resulting in an impairment of 
£0.2m on the shared ownership portion as 
well as a £0.1m impairment on the rented 
portion.

For rented schemes we reviewed those 
where additional costs highlighted a 
negative net book value, we carried out an 
impairment review. Other than the scheme 
mentioned above, there were no instances 
of impairment on rented schemes.

Land banked schemes where there is no current 
investment appraisal are reviewed to compare 
the carrying value to the estimated fair value 
if the land is sold. No new schemes required 
an impairment and there were no changes to 
existing impairment amounts.

• Asset management review
Where schemes have been identified for 
potential improvements, redevelopment 
or sale an options appraisal is carried out. 
We carried out an impairment review of 
two schemes where substantial works 
are required, however the depreciated 
replacement value was higher than the 
net book value including the cost of the 
additional works and no impairment was 
required.

Housing stock for sale
Housing stock for sale is recognised at the 
lower of cost and net realisable value. In 
assessing net realisable value management 
considers publicly available information and 
internal forecasts on future sales activity. 

We have reviewed the sales value of all of our 
homes for sale, both available for sale and in 
construction. Information from actual sales 
values achieved, mortgage valuations provided 
to potential residents, and discussions with 
developers and estate agents have been used 
to review current sales values. In areas where 
sales are proving to be more difficult to achieve, 
we have incorporated higher sales costs, 
including staff resources and incentives.

The impact has been to reduce net realisable 
value by £1.9m, on 14 of our schemes out of a 
total of 47 schemes currently in progress. The 
largest impact on one scheme is £0.6m where 
the contractor went into liquidation and the 
costs to complete construction have increased. 

Loan agreements with embedded fixes
£308,640,000 (2018: £241,600,000) of the 
Group’s loan agreements contain clauses 
which entitle the lender to compensation in the 
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event that, on cancellation or redemption of a 
loan, the underlying derivative positions would 
return a benefit to the lender. In preparing these 
financial statements, management has judged 
that the requirements of FRS 102 are unclear 
as to whether these arrangements result in the 
affected loans being classified as ‘basic’ or 
‘other’. On the basis of this lack of clarity and 
because it is not the intention of the Group to 
redeem or actively trade in these borrowings 
for speculative purposes, management 
considers that the criteria for classification as 
basic instruments are met. These amounts 
are therefore carried at amortised cost. 
Should management determine that the 
alternative judgement becomes appropriate 
or additional clarity be offered by FRS 102 in 
future that indicates that the instruments are 
‘other’ financial instruments, they would be 
required to be presented at their fair value in 
the financial statements with annual fair value 
movements reported through the statement 
of comprehensive income. The information to 
determine the financial impact of presenting 
these instruments at fair value is not available.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Estimated useful lives
Fixed assets are depreciated over their 
estimated useful lives. The components into 
which housing properties are split and their 
associated estimated lives are considered to be 
the appropriate level based on knowledge of the 
repairs and maintenance programme carried 
out. The actual lives of individual components 
can however vary based on factors such 
as product life, wear and tear, maintenance 
programmes and environmental factors.

Housing property cost allocation
In mixed tenure developments costs are 
allocated between different tenures on a 
floor area basis. The allocation of the cost of 
shared ownership properties between housing 
properties and housing stock for sale is based 
on the estimated first tranche sale portion. We 
predict the amount to be sold by reviewing 
historic sale portions, current economic 
conditions and location.

Notes to the financial statements
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Rent arrears
The value of arrears that will not be collected 
is estimated based on past experience of 
collection of different types of debt. The impact 
of changes in welfare reform including Universal 
Credit and benefit caps have been estimated 
based on data provided from pilot studies 
and the Group’s experience based on a small 
population.

Pensions
The liability for future pension payments 
depends on a number of complex judgements 
relating to the discount rate used, the expected 
rate of price inflation, the rate at which salaries 
and pensions are expected to increase and 
mortality rates. Qualified actuaries are engaged 
to provide expert advice in each of the defined 
benefit pension schemes of which the Group is 
a member. The principal actuarial assumptions 
provided by the actuaries have been reviewed 
and considered to be applicable to the Group. 

Interest rate swaps
Uncertainties in the valuation of interest 
rate swaps include future interest rates and 
counterparty credit risk. Moat uses a debt 
and derivative advisory company, regulated 
by the Financial Conduct Authority, to value 
its derivatives. The key assumptions used in 
the valuation are a discount rate of six months 
LIBOR and in order to calculate the effective/
ineffective values, the dollar offset method on a 
cumulative basis is used.

Operating segments 
The provision of social housing is the principal 
activity. Segmental information is disclosed in 
note 3 where social housing lettings activity is 
split into different tenures and into other social 
housing activities such as sale of social housing 
and development administration. Housing 
property cost is split into different tenures and 
stages of construction in note 14. The Board 
does not routinely receive any further segmental 
information.



2018

Turnover Operating 
costs

Cost of 
sales

Gain on 
disposal of 

fixed assets

Operating 
surplus

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Social housing lettings 99,600 (59,673) - - 39,927

Other social housing activities

Contracted services 676 (580) - - 96

Development administration - (2,527) - - (2,527)

Regeneration projects - (1,471) - - (1,471)

Impairment of schemes under construction/redevelopment - (168) - - (168)

Shared ownership property sales 28,490 - (24,338) - 4,152

Movement in net realisable value of housing stock - (1,943) - - (1,943)

Staircasing activity on low cost home ownership - - - 11,204 11,204

Redemption of equity loans - - - 3,064 3,064

Investment in communities - (868) - - (868)

Other 1,572 (1,149) - - 423

Non-social housing activities

Market renting lettings 70 (4) - - 66

Open market sale activity - (10) - - (10)

Other 14 (39) - - (25)

Total 130,422 (68,432) (24,338) 14,268 51,920

2018

Turnover Operating 
costs

Cost of 
sales

Gain on 
disposal of 

fixed assets

Operating 
surplus

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Social housing lettings 97,082 (54,994) - - 42,088

Other social housing activities

Contracted services 645 (603) - - 42

Development administration - (2,265) - - (2,265)

Regeneration project - (1,709) - - (1,709)

Impairment of scheme under construction/redevelopment - (742) - - (742)

Shared ownership property sales 25,063 - (19,987) - 5,076

Staircasing activity on low cost home ownership - - - 9,671 9,671

Redemption of equity loans - - - 2,805 2,805

Investment in communities 17 (731) - - (714)

Other 1,463 (783) - - 680

Non-social housing activities

Market renting lettings 64 - - - 64

Open market sale activity - (51) - - (51)

Other 9 (44) - - (35)

Total 124,343 (61,922) (19,987) 12,476 54,910
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3. Particulars of turnover, operating costs, cost of sales  
    and operating surplus - Group

2019
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Income and expenditure from social housing lettings

2018

General 
needs and 
affordable 

rent

Low cost 
home 

ownership

Housing for 
older people 
/ supported 

housing

Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Turnover from social housing lettings

Rents receivable 57,975 18,711 7,391 84,077 82,130

Service charge income 4,248 4,368 1,800 10,416 9,859

Net rental income 62,223 23,079 9,191 94,493 91,989

Amortisation of Social Housing Grant 3,659 969 440 5,068 5,093

Other revenue grant 39 - - 39 -

Total turnover from social housing lettings 65,921 24,048 9,631 99,600 97,082

Operating costs of social housing lettings

Management (9,307) (4,313) (1,943) (15,563) (14,995)

Service charge costs (4,112) (4,325) (1,821) (10,258) (9,394)

Routine maintenance (8,857) - (1,520) (10,377) (9,069)

Planned maintenance (2,501) - (506) (3,007) (3,601)

Major repairs (7,047) - (1,155) (8,202) (6,696)

Capitalised major repairs 3,550 - 1,090 4,640 4,248

Rent losses from bad debts (193) - (20) (213) (230)

Depreciation of housing properties (12,508) (2,601) (1,584) (16,693) (15,257)

Total operating costs of social housing lettings (40,975) (11,239) (7,459) (59,673) (54,994)

Operating surplus on social housing lettings 24,946 12,809 2,172 39,927 42,088

Void losses (710) - (126) (836) (901)

3. Particulars of turnover, operating costs, cost of sales  
    and operating surplus - Group (continued)

2019 2018

Notes to the financial statements
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Turnover Operating 
costs

Cost of 
sales

Gain on 
disposal of 

fixed assets

Operating 
surplus

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Social housing lettings 97,063 (54,985) - - 42,078

Other social housing activities

Contracted services 645 (603) - - 42

Development administration - (2,265) - - (2,265)

Regeneration project - (1,709) - - (1,709)

Impairment of scheme under construction - (742) - - (742)

Shared ownership property sales 25,063 - (19,987) - 5,076

Staircasing activity on low cost home ownership - - - 9,671 9,671

Redemption of equity loans - - - 2,788 2,788

Investment in communities - (726) - - (726)

Other 1,463 (783) - - 680

Non-social housing activities

Market renting lettings 64 (2) - - 62

Total 124,298 (61,815) (19,987) 12,459 54,955
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2018

Turnover Operating 
costs

Cost of 
sales

Gain on 
disposal of 

fixed assets

Operating 
surplus

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Social housing lettings 99,580 (59,663) - - 39,917

Other social housing activities

Contracted services 676 (580) - - 96

Development administration - (2,527) - - (2,527)

Regeneration projects - (1,471) - - (1,471)

Impairment of schemes under construction - (168) - - (168)

Shared ownership property sales 28,490 - (24,338) - 4,152

Movement in net realisable value of housing stock - (1,943) - - (1,943)

Staircasing activity on low cost home ownership - - - 11,204 11,204

Redemption of equity loans - - - 3,055 3,055

Investment in communities - (868) - - (868)

Other 1,572 (1,149) - - 423

Non-social housing activities

Market renting lettings 70 (4) - - 66

Total 130,388 (68,373) (24,338) 14,259 51,936

3. Particulars of turnover, operating costs, cost of sales  
    and operating surplus - Association

2019

2018

Notes to the financial statements
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Income and expenditure from social housing lettings

2018

General 
needs and 
affordable 

rent

Low cost 
home 

ownership

Housing 
for older 
people /

supported 
housing

Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Turnover from social housing lettings

Rents receivable 57,958 18,711 7,391 84,060 82,112

Service charge income 4,247 4,368 1,800 10,415 9,859

Net rental income 62,205 23,079 9,191 94,475 91,971

Amortisation of Social Housing Grant 3,657 969 440 5,066 5,092

Other revenue grants 39 - - 39 -

Total turnover from social housing lettings 65,901 24,048 9,631 99,580 97,063

Operating costs on social housing lettings

Management (9,306) (4,313) (1,943) (15,562) (14,994)

Service charge costs (4,111) (4,325) (1,821) (10,257) (9,393)

Routine maintenance (8,856) - (1,520) (10,376) (9,068)

Planned maintenance (2,501) - (506) (3,007) (3,601)

Major repairs (7,047) - (1,155) (8,202) (6,696)

Capitalised major repair expenditure 3,550 - 1,090 4,640 4,248

Rent losses from bad debts (193) - (20) (213) (230)

Depreciation of housing properties (12,501) (2,601) (1,584) (16,686) (15,251)

Total operating costs on social housing lettings (40,965) (11,239) (7,459) (59,663) (54,985)

Operating surplus on letting activities 24,936 12,809 2,172 39,917 42,078

Void Losses (710) - (126) (836) (901)

3. Particulars of turnover, operating costs, cost of sales  
    and operating surplus - Association (continued)

2019 2018

Notes to the financial statements
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4. Gain on disposal of fixed assets - Group and Association

2018

Disposals Other fixed 
assets

Total

£000 £000 £000

Proceeds of sale 3,730 122 3,852

Less:

Attributable book value (564) (174) (738)

Incidental selling costs (235) - (235)

2,931 (52) 2,879

2018 20,143 (1) 20,142

2019

5. Gain on disposal of investments - Group

2019 2018

Investment 
property

Investment 
property

£000 £000

Proceeds of sale - 615

Less:

Attributable fair value - (601)

Incidental selling costs - (13)

- 1

Notes to the financial statements
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6. Board members and Executive Team

The key management personnel are defined as members of the Executive Team, listed on page 31. The total emoluments, including  
pension contribution, received by Executive Team members were £785,734 (2018: £798,083).

The compensation for loss of office for key management personnel was £nil (2018: £67,500).

The emoluments of the Chief Executive, who was also the highest paid director, in the year were as follows:

£000 £000

Emoluments, excluding pension contributions 257 246

Pension contributions - in respect of services as director - -

257 246

The Chief Executive is an ordinary member of the SHPS defined contribution scheme who is not currently contributing to the scheme.

Non-executive board members received £90,564 (2018: £72,828) as fees for their services to the group and also received £8,022 
as expenses during the year (2018: £4,815). They were paid on a pro-rata basis:

Remuneration per annum

2018

£ £

MHL chair 18,000 18,000

Senior independent director 11,000 11,000

Board member 10,000 10,000

Details of Board and Committee members can be found on pages 31 and 32.

2019 2018

2019 2018

Notes to the financial statements
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7. Employee information - Group

The average number of employees (including the Executive Team) expressed as full time equivalents (calculated based on a standard working 
week of 35 hours) during the year was as follows:

Number Number

Housing 202 188

Management 83 90

New business and sales 57 59

342 337

Staff costs (including the Executive team) consist of:

2018

£000 £000

Wages and salaries 12,984 12,349

Social security costs 1,361 1,289

Other pension costs 1,104 850

15,449 14,488

40 (2018: 34) employees, including the Executive Team, earned over £60,000 in remuneration in the following bands:

No of employees

£60,000 - £69,999 13 12

£70,000 - £79,999 10 3

£80,000 - £89,999 5 7

£90,000 - £99,999 6 4

£100,000 - £109,999 - 2

£110,000 - £119,999 1 -

£120,000 - £129,999 - 2

£150,000 - £159,999 2 1

£170,000 - £179,999 - 1

£180,000 - £189,999 2 1

£240,000 - £249,999 - 1

£250,000 - £259,999 1 -

Remuneration includes salary, allowances, pension contributions, bonuses and compensation for loss of office.

2019 2018

2019 2018

2019 2018

Notes to the financial statements
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8. Interest receivable
Group Association

2018 2017 2018 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000

Interest receivable 191 78 873 84

9. Interest and finance costs
Group Association

2018 2017 2018 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000

On bank loans, overdrafts and other loans 21,258 20,860 21,465 20,865

Interest on finance leases 42 48 42 48

Notional interest on RCGF balances 426 266 426 266

Less: interest capitalised (3,664) (3,449) (3,664) (3,442)

18,332 17,725 18,269 17,737

Interest payable by the Group and Association includes loan indexation of £38,220 (2018: £98,095). 

The average rate of interest used for capitalisation was 3.75% (2018: 4.15%).

10. Other finance costs
Group Association

2018 2017 2018 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000

Pension finance costs

Merton and Essex pension schemes 35 42 35 42

SHPS pension scheme 272 90 272 90

SHPS Growth Plan pension scheme 1 1 1 1

308 133 308 133

2019 2018

2019 2018 2019 2018

2019 2018

2019 2018 2019 2018
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11. Surplus before taxation
Group Association

2017 2017

Surplus before tax is stated after charging: £000 £000 £000 £000

Depreciation of housing properties

    Charge for the year (15,600) (14,840) (15,594) (14,834)

    Accelerated depreciation on replaced components (1,093) (417) (1,092) (417)

Note 3 (16,693) (15,257) (16,686) (15,251)

Depreciation of other fixed assets (1,522) (1,106) (1,522) (1,106)

Impairment of scheme in construction/redevelopment (168) (742) (168) (742)

Amortisation of government grant 5,068 5,093 5,066 5,092

Operating lease rentals (172) (121) (172) (121)

Auditor’s remuneration:

Audit of financial statements (81) (81) (58) (52)

Audit related assurance advice - (2) - (2)

12. Taxation

Group £000 £000

Current tax

UK corporation tax - 21

Adjustment in respect of prior year - 35

Total current tax - 56

2018

£000 £000

Surplus before tax 36,328 64,560

Current tax at 19% (2018: 19%) 6,092 12,266

Effects of:

Surpluses subject to charitable exemption (7,047) (12,271)

Timing differences - 26

Adjustment in respect of prior year - 35

Loss carried forward 145 -

Total current tax charge - 56

2019 2018 2019 2018

2019 2018

2019 2018

Notes to the financial statements
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12. Taxation - continued

2018 2017

Association £000 £000

Current tax

UK corporation tax - -

2018 2017

£000 £000

Surplus before tax 37,089 64,598

Current tax at 19% (2018: 19%) 7,047 12,274

Effects of:

Surpluses subject to charitable exemption (7,047) (12,274)

Total current tax credit - -

2019 2018

2019 2018

Notes to the financial statements
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13. Residential accommodation owned and/or managed - Group

At 31 March 2019 At 31 March 2018

Owned 
and 

managed

Owned 
not 

managed

Managed  
not owned

Total Owned 
and 

managed

Owned 
not 

managed

Managed  
not owned

Total

Social housing

General needs 8,147 1 310 8,458 8,204 1 314 8,519

General needs affordable rent 1,728 - 1 1,729 1,559 - 1 1,560

Housing for older people (HfOP) 1,493 - - 1,493 1,519 - - 1,519

HfOP affordable rent 63 - - 63 31 - - 31

Supported housing 107 138 - 245 103 142 - 245

Shared ownership 5,195 - - 5,195 4,989 - - 4,989

Leasehold properties 1,024 - 58 1,082 1,004 - 58 1,062

17,757 139 369 18,265 17,409 143 373 17,925

Equity loan properties - - 1,333 1,333 - - 1,473 1,473

Social housing 17,757 139 1,702 19,598 17,409 143 1,846 19,398

Non-social housing

Open market rented properties 3 - - 3 4 - - 4

Leasehold properties - - 15 15 - - 15 15

Firstbuy loans - - 2 2 - - 3 3

Freehold properties - - 965 965 - - 953 953

Care homes - 44 - 44 - 44 - 44

Non-social housing 3 44 982 1,029 4 44 971 1,019

Residential properties owned 
and/or managed 17,760 183 2,684 20,627 17,413 187 2,817 20,417

Non-residential

Staff housing and guest rooms 9 - - 9 9 - - 9

Garages 580 - - 580 595 - - 595

Commercial 19 - - 19 19 - - 19

Non-residential 608 - - 608 623 - - 623

A further 950 homes were under develoment at 31 March 2019 (2018: 889).

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019



13. Residential accommodation owned and/or managed - Association

At 31 March 2019 At 31 March 2018

Owned 
and 

managed

Owned 
not 

managed

Managed  
not owned

Total Owned 
and 

managed

Owned 
not 

managed

Managed 
not owned

Total

Social housing

General needs 8,144 1 310 8,455 8,201 1 314 8,516

General needs affordable rent 1,728 - 1 1,729 1,559 - 1 1,560

Housing for older people (HfOP) 1,493 - - 1,493 1,519 - - 1,519

HfOP affordable rent 63 - - 63 31 - - 31

Supported housing 107 138 - 245 103 142 - 245

Shared ownership 5,195 - - 5,195 4,989 - - 4,989

Leasehold properties 1,024 - 58 1,082 1,004 - 58 1,062

17,754 139 369 18,262 17,406 143 373 17,922

Equity loan properties - - 1,333 1,333 - - 1,473 1,473

Social housing 17,754 139 1,702 19,595 17,406 143 1,846 19,395

Non-social housing

Open market rented properties 3 - - 3 4 - - 4

Leasehold properties - - 965 965 - - 953 953

Care homes - 44 - 44 - 44 - 44

Non-social housing 3 44 965 1,012 4 44 953 1,001

Residential properties owned 
and/or managed 17,757 183 2,667 20,607 17,410 187 2,799 20,396

Non-residential

Community hubs 9 - - 9 9 - - 9

Garages 580 - - 580 595 - - 595

Commercial 19 - - 19 19 - - 19

Non-social housing 608 - - 608 623 - - 623

A further 913 homes were under develoment at 31 March 2019 (2018: 889).

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019
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14. Tangible fixed assets - housing properties - Group

Rented properties Shared ownership 

Completed Under 
construction

Completed Under 
construction

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost

At 1 April 2018 1,031,545 24,534 355,929 65,751 1,477,759

Additions 11,380 34,861 64 77,000 123,305

Schemes completed 25,270 (25,270) 56,268 (56,268) -

Change in tenure (896) - 896 - -

Disposals (9,318) - (8,334) - (17,652)

At 31 March 2019 1,057,981 34,125 404,823 86,483 1,583,412

Depreciation

At 1 April 2018 (129,783) - (19,725) - (149,508)

Charge in year (13,055) - (2,545) - (15,600)

Change in tenure 89 - (89) - -

Released on disposal 5,741 - 448 - 6,189

At 31 March 2019 (137,008) - (21,911) - (158,919)

Impairment

At 1 April 2018 (1,372) (2,104) (207) - (3,683)

Charge in year 183 (124) - (227) (168)

Released on disposal 848 - - - 848

At 31 March 2019 (341) (2,228) (207) (227) (3,003)

Net Book Value - 2019 920,632 31,897 382,705 86,256 1,421,490

Net Book Value - 2018 900,390 22,430 335,997 65,751 1,324,568

Included within additions in cost of properties is £3,664k (2018: £3,449k) for interest capitalised during the year and £11,380k (2018: £11,801k) 
which is the cost of replacing components.

Rented Shared ownership

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019
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14. Tangible fixed assets - housing properties - Association

Completed Under 
construction

Completed Under 
construction

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost

At 1 April 2018 1,031,072 24,534 355,929 65,751 1,477,286

Additions 11,380 34,861 64 77,000 123,305

Schemes completed 25,270 (25,270) 56,268 (56,268) -

Change in tenure (896) - 896 - -

Disposals (9,318) - (8,334) - (17,652)

At 31 March 2019 1,057,508 34,125 404,823 86,483 1,582,939

Depreciation

At 1 April 2018 (129,749) - (19,725) - (149,474)

Charge in year (13,049) - (2,545) - (15,594)

Change in tenure 89 - (89) - -

Released on disposal 5,741 - 448 - 6,189

At 31 March 2019 (136,968) - (21,911) - (158,879)

Impairment

At 1 April 2018 (1,372) (2,104) (207) - (3,683)

Charge in year 183 (124) - (227) (168)

Released on disposal 848 - - - 848

At 31 March 2019 (341) (2,228) (207) (227) (3,003)

Net Book Value - 2019 920,199 31,897 382,705 86,256 1,421,057

Net Book Value - 2018 899,951 22,430 335,997 65,751 1,324,129

Included within additions in cost of properties is £3,664k (2018: £3,442k) for interest capitalised during the year and £11,380k (2018: £11,801k) 
which is the cost of replacing components.

Rented Shared ownership

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019
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15. Investment in subsidiaries 

Description Country of 
incorporation

% of 
ordinary 

shares held

Holding 
company

Investment
£

Moat Housing Group Ltd Non Charitable RP England 100% MHL 1

Moat Homes Finance Plc Finance Company England 100% MHL 50,000

Moat Foundation Charity England 100% MHL -

Moat Construction Services Ltd Dormant England 100% MHL 1

Moat Development Ltd Dormant England 100% MHG 1

Mariner Facilities Management Ltd Dormant England 100% MHG 100

50,103

MHL has paid £12,500 of the allotted share capital in MHF (2018: £12,500).

16. Investment properties
Group Association

2018 2017 2018 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000

Investment properties at 1 April 467 1,059 467 458

Disposals - (601) - -

Movement in fair value 15 9 15 9

Investment properties at 31 March 482 467 482 467

Investment properties are held at fair value. These are commerical properties which were revalued by external chartered surveyors, 
Residentially, at 31 March 2019.

2019 2018 2019 2018

14. Tangible fixed assets - housing properties - (continued)

Group Association

£000 £000 £000 £000

Housing properties at cost comprise:

Freeholds 1,364,137 1,336,280 1,363,665 1,335,807

Long leaseholds 218,225 140,429 218,224 140,429

Short leaseholds 1,050 1,050 1,050 1,050

1,583,412 1,477,759 1,582,939 1,477,286

2019 2018 2019 2018

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019
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17. Other tangible fixed assets - Group and Association

Freehold land  
and buildings Other Total

£000 £000 £000

Cost

At 1 April 2018 11,481 12,059 23,540

Additions - 2,578 2,578

Disposals - (556) (556)

At 31 March 2019 11,481 14,081 25,562

Depreciation

At 1 April 2018 (2,721) (7,759) (10,480)

Charge for the year (240) (1,282) (1,522)

Disposals - 382 382

At 31 March 2019 (2,961) (8,659) (11,620)

Net book value - 2019 8,520 5,422 13,942

Net book value - 2018 8,760 4,300 13,060

Included within the net book value of Other is an amount of £206k (2018: £767k) in respect of assets held under a finance lease. These are 
classed as finance leases as the rental period amounts to the estimated useful life of the asset concerned.

18. Housing stock for sale

Housing stock for sale is the cost of open market sales schemes and the cost attributed to the first tranche element of shared ownership 
schemes. The cost of shared ownership schemes is split between current and fixed assets based on the expected percentage of first tranche 
sales which is currently in the region of 30%.

Group Association

2018 2017 2018 2017

  £000 £000 £000 £000

Completed schemes

First tranche sale 9,071 8,933 9,071 8,933

Under construction

First tranche sale 37,243 30,648 37,243 30,648

Open market sale 34,208 16,314 - -

80,522 55,895 46,314 39,581

2019 2018 2019 2018

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019



71  Moat Financial Statements 2018/2019

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019

19. Debtors

Group Association

2018 2018

£000 £000 £000 £000

Due within one year

Arrears of rent and service charges 4,336 4,593 4,335 4,592

Provision for bad and doubtful debts (2,172) (2,519) (2,172) (2,519)

2,164 2,074 2,163 2,073

Amounts due from Group entities - - 18,625 2,564

Prepayments and accrued income 6,458 13,616 6,457 13,616

Cash collateral given 267 3,660 - 3,660

Other debtors 1,515 2,705 1,514 2,705

10,404 22,055 28,759 24,618

Due after one year

Other debtors 836 776 770 710

11,240 22,831 29,529 25,328

20. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Group Association

2018 2018

£000 £000 £000 £000

Bank overdraft 9 2 9 2

Housing loans (note 21) 9,988 11,103 7,456 11,103

Trade creditors 1,255 1,291 1,246 1,291

Owed to other Group entities - - 185 257

Recycled capital grant fund (note 23) 32,824 4,305 32,824 4,305

Disposal proceeds fund (note 24) 1 178 1 178

Finance lease liabilities (note 21) 136 162 136 162

Other creditors 6,672 8,059 6,462 7,807

Accruals and deferred income 26,392 16,765 25,604 16,332

77,277 41,865 73,923 41,437

 

2019 2018 2019 2018

2019 2018 2019 2018
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21. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Group Association

2018 2018

£000 £000 £000 £000

Housing loans 352,323 294,926 352,323 294,926

Bond issue 150,000 150,000 - -

Government grant - housing properties 449,311 451,212 449,172 451,072

Homebuy grant 43,194 47,639 43,194 47,639

Owed to other Group entities - - 151,567 151,609

Recycled capital grant fund (note 23) 28,062 56,864 28,062 56,864

Disposal proceeds fund (note 24) 298 834 298 834

Service charge creditor 2,995 2,718 2,982 2,708

Finance lease liabilities 165 533 165 533

Other creditors 1,563 7,065 40 5,498

1,027,911 1,011,791 1,027,803 1,011,683

Group Association

Housing loans and bond issue 2018 2018

£000 £000 £000 £000

Within one year (note 20) 9,988 11,103 7,456 11,103

Between one and two years 9,632 7,603 9,632 7,603

Between two and five years 84,996 29,617 84,996 29,617

In more than five years:

Repayable by instalments 260,194 259,351 260,194 259,351

Repayable other than by instalments 150,000 150,000 - -

Issue costs (2,499) (1,645) (2,499) (1,645)

502,323 444,926 352,323 294,926

512,311 456,029 359,779 306,029

2019 2018 2019 2018

2019 2018 2019 2018

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019
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21. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year (continued)

Group Association

2018 2018

£000 £000 £000 £000

The Finance for Residential Social Housing Plc 3,638 3,791 3,638 3,791

HALOS Limited - 10,000 - 10,000

The Housing Finance Corporation Index Linked - 2,283 - 2,283

Banks and building societies 311,172 241,600 308,640 241,600

Affordable Housing Finance Plc 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000

Moat Homes Finance Plc Bond 150,000 150,000 - -

Issue costs (2,499) (1,645) (2,499) (1,645)

512,311 456,029 359,779 306,029

Housing loans and Bond issue - All of the above are secured by fixed charges on the Group’s housing assets and are repayable at variable and 
fixed rates of interest in the range of 0.78% to 12.84% (2018: 0.77% to 12.84%) per annum.

Finance leases Group Association

2018 2018

£000 £000 £000 £000

Within one year (note 20) 136 162 136 162

Between one and five years 126 418 126 418

In more than five years 39 115 39 115

301 695 301 695

Government grant Group Association

2018 2018

£000 £000 £000 £000

Social Housing Grant (SHG) and other government grant
519,004 516,350 518,857 516,203

Cumulative amortisation (69,693) (65,138) (69,685) (65,131)

449,311 451,212 449,172 451,072

2019 2018 2019 2018

2019 2018 2019 2018

2019 2018 2019 2018

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019

Housing loans and bond issue



22. Total government grant assistance
Total government grant assistance received or receivable to date is as follows:

Group Association

£000 £000 £000 £000

SHG on housing properties 519,004 516,350 518,857 516,203

Homebuy and starter home initiative 43,194 47,639 43,194 47,639

Recycled capital grant fund 60,886 61,169 60,886 61,169

Disposal proceeds fund 299 1,012 299 1,012

Add: cumulative amount credited to statement of comprehensive income 13,346 13,307 11,627 11,588

636,729 639,477 634,863 637,611

23. Recycled capital grant fund - Group and Association

2018 2017

Homes
England

GLA Homes 
England

GLA

£000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 51,181 9,988 47,399 10,036

Inputs to fund: Grants recycled 5,976 1,449 6,633 1,090

                         Interest accrued 355 65 216 45

57,512 11,502 54,248 11,171

Withdrawals from fund: New build (3,638) (1,794) (3,067) (1,183)

                                        Repaid - (2,696) - -

At 31 March 53,874 7,012 51,181 9,988

Amounts three years or older where repayment may be required 31,525 1,299 22,641 4,305

24. Disposal proceeds fund - Group and Association

 Homes
England

GLA Homes
England

GLA

£000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 960 52 956 201

 Inputs to fund: Interest accrued 7 - 4 1

967 52 960 202

Withdrawals from fund: New build (720) - - (150)

At 31 March 247 52 960 52

Amounts three years or older where repayment may be required - 1 426 3
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2019 2018 2019 2018

2019 2018

2019 2018

Notes to the financial statements
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25. Other financial commitments - Group and Association

At 31 March 2019 Moat there are future commitments under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

Land and building 
lease commitments Other lease commitments

2018 2017 2018 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000

Operating leases which expire:

Within one year 84 88 52 14

Between one and five years 28 88 122 19

In more than five years - - - -

112 176 174 33

26. Capital commitments

Group Association

2018 2017 2018 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000

Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided in 
the financial statements 251,625 211,665 215,267 187,928

Capital expenditure authorised but not yet contracted for 7,902 118,877 7,902 90,358

Capital commitments will be funded from existing and new facilities, cash from operating activities and first tranche/open market sale 
proceeds.

27. Financial instruments

The carrying values of financial assets and liabilities are summarised below:

Group Association

2018 2017 2018 2017

Financial assets £000 £000 £000 £000

Measured at undiscounted amount receivable:

Trade and other debtors and cash collateral given (note 19) 4,782 9,215 23,072 11,712

Cash and cash equivalents 20,387 32,220 20,103 32,031

25,169 41,435 43,175 43,743

2019 2018 2019 2018

2019 2018 2019 2018

2019 2018 2019 2018

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019
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27. Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities

Group Association

2018 2018

£000 £000 £000 £000

Measured at fair value and designated as an effective hedge:

Derivative financial liabilities (note 28) 58,313 54,542 58,313 54,542

Measured at fair value through the surplus for the year:

Cancellable interest rate swaps 10,092 9,997 10,092 9,997

Ineffective interest rate swaps 1 59 1 59

68,406 64,598 68,406 64,598

Measured at amortised cost:

Loans payable (notes 20, 21) 362,311 306,029 359,779 306,029

Bond payable (note 21) 150,000 150,000 - -

Obligations under finance leases (notes 20, 21) 301 695 301 695

Intercompany loans payable (notes 20, 21) - - 151,567 151,609

Measured at undiscounted amount payable:

Trade and other creditors (notes 20, 21) 38,886 35,900 36,528 33,895

619,904 557,222 616,581 556,826

Cancellable and ineffective interest rate swaps are valued at the present value of future cash flows estimated and discounted based on  
the applicable yield curves derived from quoted interest rates. Assumptions used in the valuation are a discount rate of six months LIBOR  
and the dollar offset method on a cumulative basis for calculating effective/ineffective values.

Loans payable include £308.6m (2018: £241.6m) of loans with embedded fixes. These have been measured at amortised cost.

Income, expense, gains and losses in respect of financial instruments are:

Group Association

2018 2018

£000 £000 £000 £000

Interest income and expense

Total interest income for financial assets at amortised cost 191 78 873 84

Total interest expense for financial liabilities at amortised cost (21,570) (20,908) (21,507) (20,913)

Fair value gains and losses

On derivative financial liabilities designated as an effective hedge (3,771) 1,346 (3,771) 1,346

On financial liabilities measured at fair value through surplus for the year (37) 7,278 (37) 7,278

(25,187) (12,206) (24,442) (12,205)

2019 2018 2019 2018

2019 2018 2018 2019

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019
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28. Hedging financial instruments - Group and Association

Due within one year Due after one year

2018 2017 2018 2017

£000 £000 £000 £000

On derivative financial liabilities designated  
as an effective hedge:

Interest rate swaps - - 58,313 54,542

Interest rate swaps are valued at the present value of future cash flows estimated and discounted based on the applicable yield curves 
derived from quoted interest rates. Assumptions used in the valuation are a discount rate of six months LIBOR and the dollar offset method on 
a cumulative basis for calculating effective/ineffective values.

Cash flow hedges
The following table details the notional principal amounts and the remaining terms of interest rate swap contracts designated as cash flow 
hedges outstanding as at the reporting date:

Average contract fixed 
interest rate

Notional principal value Fair value

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

% % £000 £000 £000 £000

More than five years 4.38 4.84 123,000 123,000 58,313 54,542

The interest rate swaps settle on a quarterly basis. The floating rate on the interest rate swaps is three months LIBOR. The Group settles the 
difference between the fixed and floating interest rate on a net basis.

All interest rate swap contracts, except cancellable swaps which are measured at fair value through the surplus and deficit, exchanging floating 
rate interest amounts are designated as cash flow hedges. All interest rate swaps reduce the Group’s cash flow exposure resulting from 
variable interest rates on borrowings. The hedged cash flows are expected to occur and to affect surplus and deficit over the period to maturity 
of the interest rate swaps. £48,000k of the cash flow swaps mature in 2029 and the remaining £75,000k matures in 2038.

Association

£ £

Allotted, issued and fully paid £1 shares

At 1 April 12 13

Cancelled during the year (2) (2)

Issued during the year 1 1

As at 31 March 11 12

Each of Moat’s non-executive members holds one share of £1 in the Association. The shares confer the right to vote at general meetings and 
are irredeemable, being cancelled on cessation of membership. They do not confer a right to dividends or a provision for distribution on a 
winding-up.

29. Called-up share capital

2019 2018 2019 2018

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

2019 2018

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019
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30. Pension obligations

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019

Defined contribution schemes 

MHL participates in the defined contribution scheme with SHPS. The 
total expense charged to surplus in the period ended 31 March 2019 
was £777k (2018: £661k). This scheme is open to all new employees 
and current employees also have the opportunity to switch into this 
scheme.

MHL also participates in the Aviva defined contribution scheme. The total 
expense charged to surplus in the period ended 31 March 2019 was 
£182k (2018: £173k). This scheme is closed to new employees. 

Defined benefit schemes
A defined benefit scheme is a pension plan that defines an amount of 
pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, dependent 
on one or more factors such as age, years of service and remuneration. 
The schemes have rules which specify the benefits to be paid and are 
financed accordingly with assets being held in independently administered 
funds. A full actuarial valuation of each of the defined benefit schemes we 
participate in is carried out every three years with interim reviews in the 
intervening years.

The schemes are subject to the funding legislation outlined in the 
Pensions Act 2004 which came into force on 30 December 2005. This, 
together with documents issued by the Pensions Regulator and Technical 
Actuarial Standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council, set out the 
framework for funding defined benefit occupational pension schemes in 
the UK.

Social Housing Pension Scheme (SHPS) 
MHL participates in SHPS, a multi-employer pension scheme which 
provides benefits to non-associated participating employers. MHL has 
closed the scheme to new employees.

The scheme is classed as a defined benefit scheme in the UK. Previously 
it was not possible for MHL to obtain sufficient information to enable it to 
account for the scheme as a defined benefit scheme, and the scheme 
was accounted for as a defined contribution scheme. From 1 April 2018 
it is possible to identify the share of the underlying assets and liabilities 
belonging to individual participating employers on a consistent and 
reasonable basis. From that date MHL accounts for the scheme as if it 
were a defined benefit scheme. The reversal of the past service deficit 
funding liability and the introduction of the net defined benefit liability as at 
1 April 2018 are shown in other comprehensive income.

The value of each member’s liabilities has been calculated by undertaking 
a full valuation of SHPS as at 30 September 2017, the last date when full 
membership data was obtained. The liability for each employer has been 
determined by calculating the liability for the appropriate members linked 
to each employer. The liability for orphan members (members with no 
remaining sponsoring employer for historical reasons) has been allocated 
in proportion to each employer’s share of the overall liabilities. 

SHPS is not a segregated multi-employer scheme and does not, therefore, 
have ring-fenced assets for each participating employer. The fair value of 
an employer’s assets in SHPS for the purpose of FRS 102 is determined 
as the employer’s share of the market value of the scheme assets split 
in proportion to the employer’s share of the trustee’s triennial funding 
liabilities at the accounting date. This process has been adopted as it is 
the approach adopted by the trustee should an employer bulk transfer 
from the scheme to an alternative defined benefit scheme. Hence the 

output is deemed to be the employer’s fair value of assets. In order to 
obtain this fair value for an employer, the trustee’s funding liabilities are 
calculated for all employers at the accounting date. Each employer’s 
percentage share of the total funding liabilities is then determined. That 
percentage share is then applied to the market value of the assets of the 
scheme as at the accounting date to determine the employer’s fair value of 
assets at the accounting date.

A full actuarial valuation for the scheme was carried out at 30 September 
2017 by independent, qualified actuaries, Jardine Lloyd Thompson 
Group Plc (JLT). The valuation uses a set of assumptions determined by 
JLT based on financial conditions as at 30 September 2017. MHL have 
chosen not to change the assumptions provided.

To assess the value of the Employers’ liabilities at 31 March 2019, JLT 
have rolled forward the 30 September 2017 valuation to 30 September 
2018 allowing for investment returns (estimated where necessary), 
contributions paid into, and estimated benefits paid from, the Fund by and 
in respect of MHL and its employees.

As the scheme is in deficit, MHL has agreed to a deficit funding 
arrangement. Under the new recovery plan based on the 30 September 
2017 valuation, from 1 April 2019 MHL’s deficit contributions are 
£1,311,332 per annum. These payments will increase annually by 2% from 
1 April 2020 and on each 1 April thereafter until September 2026. The 
recovery plan will be reviewed as part of the September 2020 actuarial 
valuation.

The scheme is classified as a ‘last man standing’ arrangement. Therefore, 
MHL is potentially liable for other participating employers’ obligations if 
those employers are unable to meet their share of the scheme deficit 
following withdrawal from the scheme. Participating employers are legally 
required to meet their share of the scheme deficit on an annuity purchase 
basis on withdrawal from the scheme.

London Borough of Merton and Essex County Council 
pension schemes
MHL provides two pension schemes under the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) to its employees. Both schemes are defined benefit 
schemes and have been closed to new employees.

The last full actuarial valuations were conducted as at 31 March 2016 
by independent, qualified actuaries, Barnett Waddingham LLP for both 
schemes, using the projected unit credit method. The valuation has set the 
contributions for the period from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2020.

To assess the value of the Employers’ liabilities at 31 March 2019, Barnett 
Waddingham LLP have rolled forward the value of the Employers’ liabilities 
calculated for the funding valuations as at 31 March 2016, using financial 
assumptions that comply with FRS 102. To calculate the asset share, 
they have rolled forward the assets allocated to MHL at 31 March 2016 
allowing for investment returns (estimated where necessary), contributions 
paid into, and estimated benefits paid from, the Fund by and in respect of 
MHL and its employees.
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30. Pension obligations (continued)

The financial assumptions, set with reference to market conditions at the reporting date, used to calculate the results are as follows:

SHPS DB 
Pension Fund

Essex
Pension Fund 

Merton 
Pension Fund 

2019 2019 2019

Assumptions as at 31 March: % pa % pa % pa

RPI increases 3.3% 2.4% 2.5%

CPI increases 2.3% 1.4% 1.5%

Salary increases 3.3% 3.9% n/a

Pension increases n/a 2.4% 2.5%

Discount rate 2.3% 2.4% 2.4%

Allowance for commutation of pension for cash at retirement
75% of 

maximum 
allowance

n/a n/a

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019

SHPS DB 
Pension Fund

Essex
Pension Fund 

Merton 
Pension Fund 

2018 2018 2018

Assumptions as at 31 March: % pa % pa % pa

RPI increases 3.2% 2.4% 2.4%

CPI increases 2.2% 1.4% 1.4%

Salary increases 3.2% 3.9% n/a

Pension increases n/a 2.4% 2.4%

Discount rate 2.3% 2.6% 2.6%

Allowance for commutation of pension for cash at retirement
75% of 

maximum 
allowance

n/a n/a

The expected return on assets is the discounted rate.
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30. Pension obligations (continued)

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019

SHPS DB 
Pension Fund

Essex
Pension Fund 

Merton 
Pension Fund 

2018 2018 2018

Years Years Years

Retiring today - Males n/a 22.2 24.5

Retiring today - Females n/a 24.7 26.1

Retiring in 20 years - Males n/a 24.4 26.8

Retiring in 20 years - Females n/a 27.0 28.4

Amounts recognised in the surplus in respect of these defined benefit schemes are as follows:

SHPS DB 
Pension Fund 

Essex
 Pension Fund 

Merton 
Pension Fund

Total

2019 2019 2019 2019

£000 £000 £000 £000

Service cost (116) (18) - (134)

Net interest on defined benefit liability (272) (15) (20) (307)

Administration expenses (27) (1) - (28)

Total (415) (34) (20) (469)

SHPS DB 
Pension Fund 

Essex
 Pension Fund 

Merton 
Pension Fund

Total

2018 2018 2018 2018

£000 £000 £000 £000

Service cost n/a (19) - (19)

Net interest on defined benefit liability n/a (21) (21) (42)

Administration expenses n/a (1) (2) (3)

Total n/a (41) (23) (64)

SHPS DB 
Pension Fund

Essex
Pension Fund 

Merton 
Pension Fund 

2019 2019 2019

Years Years Years

Retiring today - Males 21.8 21.3 23.4

Retiring today - Females 23.5 23.6 24.8

Retiring in 20 years - Males 23.2 22.9 25.0

Retiring in 20 years - Females 24.7 25.4 26.6

The assumed life expectations from age 65 are:
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30. Pension obligations (continued)

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019

Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of these defined benefit schemes are as follows:

SHPS DB 
Pension Fund 

Essex
 Pension Fund 

Merton 
Pension Fund

Total

2019 2019 2019 2019

£000 £000 £000 £000

Derecognition of deficit funding liability 6,357 - - 6,357

Recognition of the opening pension deficit (11,077) - - (11,077)

Net actuarial (losses)/gains (2,750) 134 124 (2,492)

Total (7,470) 134 124 (7,212)

SHPS DB 
Pension Fund 

Essex
 Pension Fund 

Merton 
Pension Fund

Total

2018 2018 2018 2018

£000 £000 £000 £000

Net actuarial gains - 248 53 301

The amount included in the statement of financial position arising in respect of these defined benefit schemes is as follows:

SHPS DB 
Pension Fund

Essex 
Pension Fund

Merton 
Pension Fund

Total

2019 2019 2019 2019

£000 £000 £000 £000

Present value of defined benefit obligation (52,852) (2,863) (2,484) (58,199)

Fair value of Fund assets (bid value) 39,593 2,392 1,797 43,782

Deficit (13,259) (471) (687) (14,417)

SHPS DB 
Pension Fund

Essex
Pension Fund

Merton 
Pension Fund

Total

2018 2018 2018 2018

£000 £000 £000 £000

Present value of defined benefit obligation n/a (2,897) (2,510) (5,407)

Fair value of Fund assets (bid value) n/a 2,316 1,707 4,023

Deficit n/a (581) (803) (1,384)
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30. Pension obligations (continued)

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019

SHPS DB 
Pension Fund

Essex
Pension Fund 

Merton 
Pension Fund 

2019 2019 2019

£000 £000 £000

Opening defined benefit contributions (48,575) (2,897) (2,510)

Current service cost (116) (18) -

Expenses (27) - -

Interest cost (1,228) (73) (63)

Change in financial assumptions (3,136) (103) (117)

Change in demographic assumptions (149) 156 137

Actuarial losses due to scheme experience (549) - -

Estimated benefits paid net of transfers in 1,015 78 69

Contributions by scheme participants (87) (6) -

(52,852) (2,863) (2,484)

SHPS DB 
Pension Fund

Essex
Pension Fund 

Merton 
Pension Fund 

2018 2018 2018

£000 £000 £000

Opening defined benefit contributions n/a (2,976) (2,580)

Current service cost n/a (19) -

Interest cost n/a (79) (66)

Change in financial assumptions n/a 108 81

Estimated benefits paid net of transfers in n/a 75 55

Contributions by scheme participants n/a (6) -

n/a (2,897) (2,510)

Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows:
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30. Pension obligations (continued)

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019

SHPS DB 
Pension Fund

Essex
Pension Fund 

Merton 
Pension Fund 

2019 2019 2019

£000 £000 £000

Opening fair value of Fund assets 37,498 2,316 1,707

Interest on assets 956 58 43

Return on assets less interest 1,084 81 104

Administration expenses - (1) -

Contributions by employer including unfunded 983 10 12

Contributions by Fund participants 87 6 -

Estimated benefits paid plus unfunded net of transfers in (1,015) (78) (69)

39,593 2,392 1,797

SHPS DB 
Pension Fund

Essex
Pension Fund 

Merton 
Pension Fund 

2018 2018 2018

£000 £000 £000

Opening fair value of Fund assets n/a 2,142 1,735

Interest on assets n/a 58 45

Return on assets less interest n/a 140 (28)

Administration expenses n/a (1) (2)

Contributions by employer including unfunded n/a 46 12

Contributions by Fund participants n/a 6 -

Estimated benefits paid plus unfunded net of transfers in n/a (75) (55)

n/a 2,316 1,707

The total return on the SHPS DB Pension Fund assets for the year to 31 March 2019 is £2,040,000.
The total return on the Essex Pension Fund assets for the year to 31 March 2019 is £139,000.
The total return on the Merton Pension Fund assets for the year to 31 March 2019 is £128,000.

The total return on the SHPS DB Pension Fund assets for the year to 31 March 2018 is not available.
The total return on the Essex Pension Fund assets for the year to 31 March 2018 is £198,000.
The total return on the Merton Pension Fund assets for the year to 31 March 2018 is £17,000.

Movements in the fair value of defined benefit obligations were as follows:
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30. Pension obligations (continued)

SHPS DB Pension Fund - Employer asset share - bid value 2019 2019 2018 2018

£000 % £000 %

Absolute return 3,426 9% 4,581 12%

Alternative risk premia 2,283 6% 1,422 4%

Corporate bond fund 1,847 5% 1,540 4%

Credit relative value 725 2% - -

Distressed opportunities 720 2% 362 1%

Emerging markets debt 1,366 3% 1,512 4%

Fund of hedge funds 178 - 1,235 3%

Global equity 6,662 17% 7,407 20%

Infrastructure 2,076 5% 961 3%

Insurance-linked securities 1,136 3% 985 3%

Liability driven investment 14,480 37% 13,661 36%

Long lease property 582 1% - -

Net current assets 76 - 35 -

Private debt 531 1% 334 1%

Property 891 2% 1,726 4%

Risk sharing 1,196 3% 347 1%

Secured income 1,418 4% 1,390 4%

Total assets 39,593 100% 37,498 100%

None of the fair values of the assets shown above include any direct investments in the employer's own financial instruments or any property 
occupied by, or other assets used by, the employer.

Essex Pension Fund - Employer asset share - bid value 2019 2019 2018 2018

£000 % £000 %

Equities 1,502 62% 1,524 66%

Gilts 128 5% 157 6%

Other bonds 141 6% 85 4%

Property 214 9% 214 9%

Cash 64 3% 85 4%

Alternative assets 235 10% 158 7%

Other 128 5% 93 4%

Total assets 2,412 100% 2,316 100%

The analysis of the scheme assets at reporting date was as follows:



85  Moat Financial Statements 2018/2019

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019

Merton Pension Fund - Employer asset share - bid value 2019 2019 2018 2018

£000 % £000 %

Equities 1,130 63% 1,255 74%

Gilts 227 13% 381 22%

Property 68 4% 56 3%

Cash 16 - 15 1%

Multi asset credit 183 10% n/a n/a

Diversified 173 10% n/a n/a

Total assets 1,797 100% 1,707 100%

Social Housing Pension Scheme (SHPS) - The Growth Plan
MHL participates in the scheme, a multi-employer scheme which 
provides benefits to some 950 non-associated participating employers. 
The scheme is a defined benefit scheme in the UK. It is not possible 
for MHL to obtain sufficient information to enable it to account for the 
scheme as a defined benefit scheme. Therefore it accounts for the 
scheme as a defined contribution scheme. MHL has closed the scheme 
to new employees.

The scheme is subject to the funding legislation outlined in the Pensions 
Act 2004 which came into force on 30 December 2005. This, together 
with documents issued by the Pensions Regulator and Technical 
Actuarial Standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council, set out 
the framework for funding defined benefit occupational pension schemes 
in the UK.

The scheme is classified as a 'last man standing' arrangement. Therefore 
MHL is potentially liable for other participating employers’ obligations 
if those employers are unable to meet their share of the scheme deficit 
following withdrawal from the scheme. Participating employers are legally 
required to meet their share of the scheme deficit on an annuity purchase 
basis on withdrawal from the scheme.

A full actuarial valuation for the scheme was carried out at 30 September 
2017. This valuation showed assets of £794.9m, liabilities of £926.4m 
and a deficit of £131.5m. 

To eliminate this funding shortfall, the trustee has asked the participating 
employers to pay additional contributions to the scheme as follows: 

From 1 April 2019 to  
31 January 2025

£11,243,000 per annum
(payable monthly and 
increasing by 3.0% each year  
on 1 April)

Deficit contributions

2019 2018

£000 £000

Present value of provision (43) (56)

The recovery plan contributions are allocated to each participating 
employer in line with their estimated share of the Series 1 and Series 2 
scheme liabilities.

As the scheme is in deficit and MHL has agreed to a deficit funding 
arrangement, MHL recognises a liability for this obligation. The amount 
recognised is the net present value of the deficit reduction contributions 
payable under the agreement that relates to the deficit. The present 
value is calculated using the discount rate of 1.39%. The unwinding of 
the discount rate is recognised as a finance cost. 
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31. Contingent liabilities

MHL has been notified by TPT Retirement Solutions that the estimated 
employer debt on withdrawal from the Social Housing Pension Scheme 
based on the financial position of the Scheme as at 30 September 2018 
was £40.8m.

MHL has been notified by TPT Retirement Solutions that the estimated 
employer debt on withdrawal from the Growth Plan based on the 
financial position of the Growth Plan as at 30 September 2017 was 
£127k. The figure based on the financial position as at 30 September 
2018 has not been provided.

2019 2018

£000

Surplus for the year 36,328 64,504

Adjustments for non-cash items

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 10,428 10,639

Amortisation of government grants (4,555) (3,629)

Impairment of tangible fixed assets 168 742

Pension costs less contributions payable 5,821 6

Movement in fair value of financial instruments 37 (7,278)

Changes in working capital

Increase in housing stock (24,626) (21,137)

Decrease/(increase) in debtors 11,971 (1,652)

Decrease in creditors (3,939) (1,018)

Adjustments for investing or financing activities

Proceeds from sale of tangible fixed assets (32,026) (58,472)

Proceeds from sale of investments - (602)

Cost of tangible fixed asset disposals 18,430 33,367

Decrease/(increase) in investments (15) 591

Interest payable 18,111 20,332

Interest receivable (191) (78)

Additional cash collateral returned (3,660) (2,550)

Cash generated from operations 32,282 33,765

32. Statement of cash flows - Group
Reconciliation of surplus for the year to cash generated from operations:
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33. Accommodation managed by others 
We have 68 (2018: 87) bed spaces in our registered care homes and 114 
supported units (2018: 205) which were managed under management 
agreements by other organisations on behalf of Moat. These other 
organisations contract with Supporting People Administering Authorities 
and carry the financial risk relating to the supported housing homes and 
bed spaces. 

34. Related party transactions
Key management personnel are Board members and the Executive 
Team. Their only transactions with Moat are remuneration which is 
disclosed in notes 6 and 7.

The names of all Group members are set out in note 15. MHL is regarded 
by the Board as the ultimate parent undertaking of the Group. The 
consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of 
all Group members.  

Transactions with pension schemes which benefit employees are 
disclosed in note 30.

35. Analysis of intra group transactions between 
regulated and non regulated entities
Moat consists of MHL and MHG which are both registered providers of 
social housing regulated by the Regulator of Social Housing (RSH). Other 
group members are not regulated by the RSH. These are MDL, MFM and 
MCS which are dormant; MHF which is a special purpose vehicle set up 
to raise funds through a bond issue and MF, a registered charity.

MHL intra-group transactions with MHF:
MHF obtains finance directly from capital markets and on-lends to MHL. 
The on-lent funding to MHL is under a secured loan agreement, which 
is backed by housing assets of MHL. If there are any payments which 
are not made to MHF, then it has the right to enforce the security under 
the loan. During the year MHL paid £7.5m to MHF in interest payments. 
At 31 March 2019, MHL owed MHF £185k (2018: £185k) of accrued 
interest and £151.6m (2018: £151.6m) of loans. 

MHL intra-group transactions with MF:
MHL provides management and administration services to MF in the 
form of the supply of staff and the use of facilities but does not charge as 
these are deemed to be insignificant. During the year MHL donated £98k 
(2018: £99k) to MF.

36. Legislative authority
Moat Homes Limited and Moat Housing Group Limited are incorporated 
under the Co-operative and Community Benefits Societies Act 2014. 
Moat Development Limited, Mariner Facilities Management Limited, 
Moat Homes Finance Plc, Moat Construction Services Limited and Moat 
Foundation are incorporated under the Companies Act 2006. Moat 
Foundation is also a registered charity under the charities commission. 
In addition Moat Homes Limited and Moat Housing Group Limited are 
Registered Providers.
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